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WRITING THIS BIOGRAPHY, I have lived in the evil shadow of Dr Joseph Goebbels for
over six years.

Four years into the ordeal, I had the immense good fortune to become the first—
and so far only—person to open the complete microfiche record, made by the Nazis
in 1944/ 1945, of Goebbels’ entire private diaries and papers from 1923 to 1945;
the Red Army had placed these in the secret Soviet state archives in Moscow. There
they languished until the ninety or so original Agfa boxes containing the 1,600 glass
plates, on which Goebbels had had the diaries filmed for safety, were discovered by
the Goebbels Diaries expert Dr Elke Frohlich in March 1992. (On behalf of all his-
torians of the period I place on record here our gratitude for the work she has done
on the diaries.) I was able to use them myself in June and July of the same year,
probably the first person to have untied the string on those boxes since 1945. With
the support of DrV P Tarasov, chief of the Russian federation’s archives, and DrV N
Bondareyv, chief of the former Soviet secret state archives, I was able to retrieve or
copy some five hundred pages of the most important missing passages of the diary,
including Goebbels’ first diary, begun in 1923, the 1933 Reichstag fire, the 1934
Rohm Putsch, the 1938 Kristallnacht, the months before the outbreak of war in
1939 and many other historically significant episodes. The conditions in these ar-
chives in Moscow’s Viborg street were, it must be said, challenging: Soviet archives
were designed for keeping things secret, and the very notion of a public research
room was alien to them.This one had no microfilm or microfiche reader. After strug-
gling to read the 1,600 fragile glass microfiches (some 80,000 pages) with a thumb-
nail-sized 12x magnifier on my first visit, I was able, through the generosity of the
London Sunday Times, to donate a sophisticated film and fiche reader to the Russians
on my second; the bulky machine arrived back in London, without explanation, one

day after I did in July 1992.
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What followed was a less enlightened episode. I provided extracts from these dia-
ries to Times Newspapers Ltd in Britain. The Sunday Times published them along
with Der Spiegel in Germany and other major newspapers around the world. I also
donated complete sets to the German federal archives in Koblenz and to the archives
of Goebbels” native city Ménchengladbach. Nevertheless, while the international
press celebrated the retrieval of the long-lost diaries many rival historians registered
something approaching a cry of pain.

Their injured professional amour propre proved infectious. While spending half a
million pounds promoting its serialization of the diaries’ scoop, the Sunday Times
mentioned the name of the person who acquired them in the smallest type-size known
to man; Der Spiegel printed the series for five weeks without mentioning him at all. A
Berlin university historian, whose team has been labouring for years on the other
volumes of the diaries, reported at length on the ‘new find’ to a symposium in the
United States, again without reference to either Dr Frohlich, the discoverer—to
whom all real credit is due—or to myself.* The directors of Piper Verlag, Munich,
who a few weeks later published an abridged popular edition of the other Goebbels
Diaries, deplored in a German television news bulletin that ‘Mr Irving of all peo-
ple’ should have exclusively obtained these sensational missing diaries—and failed
to mention either then or in their publication that without reward he had at the last
minute made one hundred pages available with which they had filled aching gaps in
their publication.

Even more lamentable have been the actions of the German government’s federal
archives, the Bundesarchiv, to whom I also donated many Goebbels documents in-

cluding a set of all the diaries I retrieved in Moscow. On the instructions of the

* Dr Jiirgen Michael Schulz, of the Berlin Free University, ‘Zur Edition der Goebbels
Tagebiicher,’ a paper presented to the German Studies Association conference, 1992.
See its Newsletter, vol.xvii, No.2, winter 1992, 34{F.

 Dr Ralf Georg Reuth (ed.), Joseph Goebbels Tagebiicher, five vols. (Munich, Zirich,

°1992).
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minister of the interior, on July 1, 1993 the archives banished me forever from their
halls, without notice, two hours before the conclusion of my seven years of research
on this subject. They had earlier provided a hundred photos at my expense—but on
the minister’s instructions they now also refused to supply caption information for
them. When I requested the Transit-Film Corporation, who inherited the copyrights
of Third Reich film productions, to provide still photographs of the leading actors
and actresses who play a part in the Goebbels story, the firm cautiously inquired of
Professor Friedrich Kahlenberg, head of the Bundesarchiv, whether ‘special consid-
erations’ might apply against helping me! (A copy of their letter fortuitously came
into my hands, but not the pictures I had requested.) The background can only be
surmised. Professor Kahlenberg had hurried to Moscow in July 1992—too late to
prevent the Russians from granting me access to the coveted microfiches of the
Goebbels diaries. (There was no reason why the Russians should have denied me
access: Several of my books, including those on Arctic naval operations and on Nazi
nuclear research, have been published by Soviet printing houses.) The Bundesarchiv
has justified its banishment, which is without parallel in any other archives, on the
grounds that my research might harm the interests of the Federal Republic of Ger-
many. The ban has prevented me from verifying my colleagues’ questionable tran-
scriptions of certain key words in the handwritten diaries. I had a list of twenty such
words which [ wished to double-check against the original negatives; pleading supe-
rior orders, the Bundesarchiv’s deputy director, Dr Siegfried Biittner, refused to
allow even this brief concluding labour. As one consequence, evidently unforeseen
by the German government, the Bundesarchiv has had to return to England its ‘Irving
Collection, half a ton of records which I had deposited in its vaults for researchers
over the last thirty years. These include originals of Adolf Eichmann’s papers, copies
of two missing years of Heinrich Himmler’s diary, the diaries of Erwin Rommel,
Alfred Jodl, Wilhelm Canaris, Walther Hewel, and a host of other papers not avail-

able elsewhere.

I HASTEN to add that with this one exception every international archive has accorded
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to me the kindness and unrestricted access to which I have become accustomed in
thirty years of historical research. I would particularly mention the efforts of Dr
David G Marwell, director of the American-controlled Berlin Document Center
(BDC), in supplying to me 1,446 pages of biographical documents relating to
Goebbels’ staff. However these now, like the collections formerly archived in Mos-
cow and in the DDR, also come under the arbitrary agis of the Bundesarchiv.
Marwell’s predecessor, the late Richard Bauer, provided me with the BDC’s file on
Goebbels (my film DI-81).* In the German socialist party’s Friedrich Ebert Stiftung
in Bonn, deputy archivist Dr Ulrich Cartarius generously granted to me privileged
access to the original handwritten diary of Viktor Lutze, chief of staff of the S.A.
(1934—43), on which he was currently working, Karl Héffkes of Essen kindly let me
use the Julius Streicher diary and papers in his private archives.

The Yivo Institute for Jewish Research in New York also allowed me to exploit
their fine Record Group 215, which houses a magnificent collection of original files
of propaganda ministry documents, including Goebbels’” own bound volumes of press
clippings. I must also mention my Italian publishers, Arnoldo Mondadori Editore,
and their senior editor Dr Andrea Cane, who made available to me for transcription
Goebbels’ entire handwritten 1938 diary—it was a two-year task, but without that
‘head start’ in reading Goebbels’ formidable script I should have been unable to
make the sense of the Moscow cache that I did. This is also the proper place to thank
my friend and rival Dr Ralf Georg Reuth, author of an earlier Goebbels biography,
for unselfishly transferring to me a copy of Horst Wessel’s diary and substantial parts
of the 1944 Goebbels diary, to which I added from Moscow and other sources.

The attitude of the other German official archives was very different from that of

the Bundesarchiv in Koblenz. Dr Hélder, president of the German federal statistics

* A listing of the author’s relevant microfilmed records is on pp. n of this work.
Most can be ordered from Microform Academic Publishers Ltd., Main Street, East
Ardsley, Wakefield, West Yorkshire WF3 2AT, England (tel. +44 924 825 j00; fax

829 212).
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agency (Statistisches Bundesamt) in Wiesbaden, provided essential data on Jewish
population movements with reference to Berlin. Two staff members (Lamers and
Kunert) of the Ménchengladbach archives provided several of the early school pho-
tos and snapshots of girlfriends reproduced in this work. André Mieles of the Deutsches
Institut fiir Filmkunde (German Institute of Cinematography) provided many of the
original movie stills and other fine photographs of filmstars. I owe thanks to Tadeusz
Duda and the Jagiellonski Library of University of Krakow, Poland, for the photo-
graphs reproduced from Horst Wessel’s diary in their custody. Dr Werner Johe of the
Forschungsstelle fiir die Geschichte des Nationalsozialismus (Research Office for
the History of National Socialism) in Hamburg volunteered data from the diary of
Gauleiter Albert Krebs. Karl Heinz Roth of the Hamburg Stiftung fiir Sozialgeschichte
des 20. Jahrhunderts (Foundation for the Social History of the Twentieth Century)
assisted me in dating certain episodes in 1934. The state archives of Lower Saxony
(Niedersachsisches Staatsarchiv) in Wolfenbiittel let me read Leopold Gutterer’s
papers and I am glad to have been able to interview Dr Gutterer, now over ninety, on
several occasions for this book. I was fortunate to obtain access to the papers of
Eugen Hadamowsky as well as those of Joseph and Magda Goebbels and of the propa-
ganda ministry itself at the Zentrales Staatsarchiv in Potsdam while it was still in the
communist zone of Germany; most of the files—e.g., vol.765, Goebbels’ letters to
his colleagues at the Front—had remained untouched since last being used by Dr
Helmut Heiber in 1958. In those last dramatic days before November 1989, archi-
vist Dr Kessler gave me unlimited access despite cramped circumstances; those files
too have now passed under the less liberal control of the Bundesarchiv.

Although any biographer of Goebbels owes a debt to Dr Helmut Heiber, who first
trod the paths to the papers in Potsdam, he will forgive me for not using his other-
wise excellent published volumes of Goebbels’ speeches; often important phrases—
faithfully reported by local British and other diplomats in the audiences—were omit-
ted from the published texts on which Heiber relies; these diplomatic records, as
well as other important documents, I have extracted from the holdings of the Public

Record Office in London, capably helped by Susanna Scott-Gall as a research assist-
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ant. Shortly before its completion Manfred Miiller, an expert of the early years of
the Goebbels family, generously commented on my manuscript and let me read his
own biography of Hans Goebbels, the brother of the Reichminister.

The Institut fiir Zeitgeschichte (IfZ) in Munich gave me the run of its library and
archives and made available to me its files of press clippings on Nazi personalities.
But here too a possessiveness, an unseemly territorialism came into play as the IfZ
contrived to protect its virtual monopoly in unpublished fragments of the Goebbels
diaries. Before coming across the Moscow cache, I had asked the IfZ, while research-
ing there in 1992, for access to its Goebbels diaries holdings for the two years 1939
and 1944; on May 13 the director of the IfZ refused in writing, stating that it was the
institute’s strict and invariable practice not to make available ‘to outsiders’ collec-
tions that it was still processing. This was why—since I could not conceive of com-
pleting the biography properly without those volumes—I travelled to Moscow, where
I had learned that the original Nazi microfiches were housed; here I accessed, to the
Munich institute’s chagrin, not only the volumes for 1939 and 1944 but the entire
diaries from 1923 to 194 5—but not before the institute, in an attempt to secure my
eviction, had urgently faxed to Moscow on July 3, 1992 the allegation, which they
many weeks later honourably withdrewt, that I was stealing from the Soviet ar-
chives. Foul play indeed—methods of which Dr Goebbels himself would probably
have been proud. That was not all. A few days later, hearing that the Sunday Times
intended to publish the diaries which I had found in Moscow, the same institute, with
a haste that would have been commendable under other circumstances, furnished to
journalists on the Daily Mail, a tabloid English newspaper, the diary material which it
had denied to me two months earlier: as of course they were entitled to. There was
one pleasing denouement. The tabloid newspaper—which had paid out £20,000 in
anticipation of its scoop—found that neither it nor its hired historians could read the
minister’s notoriously indecipherable handwriting. It abandoned its serialisation in

impotent fury two days later.

1 Stiddeutsche Zeitung, July 22, 1992
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Of course this biography is not based on Dr Goebbels’ writings alone. In no par-
ticular sequence, I must make mention of Andrzej Suchcitz of the Polish Institute and
Sikorski Museum in London who provided to me important assistance on the prov-
enance of Goebbels’ revealing secret speech about the Final Solution of September
1942; the George Arents library at the University of Syracuse, N.Y., who allowed me
to research in the Dorothy Thompson papers; and to Geoffrey Wexler, Reference
Archivist of the State Historical Society of Wisconsin, who gave access to Louis P
Lochner’s papers, copies of some of which are also housed in the Franklin D Roosevelt
Library at Hyde Park, N.Y. T also owe thanks to the latter library for the use of other
collections including William B Donovan’s papers and the ‘presidential safe files’; I
used more of Donovan’s papers at the U.S. Army Military History Institute at Car-
lisle, Pa.

Dr G Arlettaz of the Swiss federal archives in Berne, Dr Sven Welander of the
League of Nations archives at the United Nations in Geneva, and Didier Grange of
the Geneva city archives provided valuable information and photographs on Goebbels’
‘diplomatic’ visit to Geneva in 193 3. In Germany I was greatly helped by the officials
of the Nuremberg state archive which houses reports on the post-war interrogations
of leading propaganda ministry and other officials (some of which I also read at the
National Archives in Washington D.C., where my friends John Taylor and Robert
Wolfe provided the same kindly and expert guidance as they have shown for several
decades.)

Dr Howard B Gotlieb, director of the Mugar Memorial Library at Boston Univer-
sity drew my attention to their collection of the former Berlin journalist Bella Fromm’s
papers. Archivist Margaret Petersen and assistant archivist Marilyn B Kann at the
Hoover Library at Stanford University, Ca., allowed me to see their precious trove
of original Goebbels diaries as well as the political-warfare papers of Daniel Lerner
and Fritz Theodor Epstein. The Seeley Mudd Library of Princeton University let me
see their precious Adolf Hitler collection, although they were not, alas, permitted to
open to me their Allen Dulles papers which contain several files on Goebbels and the

July 1944 bomb plot. Bernard R Crystal of the Butler Library of Columbia Univer-
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sity, N.Y., found several Goebbels items tucked away in the H R Knickerbocker col-
lection. Dr Jay W Baird, of Miami University, Ohio, volunteered access to his
confidential manuscripts on Werner Naumann, whom he had interviewed at length
on tape in 1969 and 1970; the manuscripts are currently held at the IfZ, which failed
to make them available despite authorisation from Baird. The late Marianne Freifrau
von Weizsacker, mother of the later President Richard von Weizsacker, provided to
me access to her husband’s then unpublished diaries and letters (later published by
Leonidas Hill). The late Freda Réssler, née Freiin von Fircks, talked to me at length
about her murdered husband Karl Hanke, Goebbels’ closest colleague, rival in love,
and gauleiter of Breslau, and supplied copies of his letters and other materials.
Major Charles E Snyder, USAF (retired), gave me a set of the precious original
proofs of the moving Goebbels family photos reproduced in this work; as in Hitler’s
War (London, 1991) some colour photographs are from the unique collection of
unpublished portraits taken by Walter Frentz, Hitler’s HQ film cameraman, to whom
my thanks for entrusting the original transparencies to me. Other photographs were
supplied by the U.S. National Archives—I scanned around 40,000 prints from its
magnificent collection of glass plates taken by Heinrich Hoffmann’s cameramen—
and by Leif Rosas, Annette Castendyk (daughter of Goebbels’ first great love Anka
Stalherm’s), and Irene Prange, who also entrusted to me Goebbels’ early corre-
spondence with Anka. Among those whom [ was fortunate to interview were Hit-
ler’s secretary Christa Schroeder, his adjutants Nicolaus von Below, Gerhard Engel,
Karl-Jesco von Puttkamer, his press staff officials Helmut Stindermann and Heinz
Lorenz, his minister of munitions Albert Speer, and Goebbels’ senior aide Immanuel
Schiffer, all of whom have since died, as well asTraudl Junge, Otto Giinsche, both of
Hitler’s staff, Gunter d’Alquen, the leading S.S. journalist attached to the propa-
ganda ministry, film director Leni Riefenstahl—who privately showed me her pro-
ductions of the era—and film star Lida Baarova (now Lida Lundwall). I am grateful
toThomas Harlan for talking to me about his mother the late film star Hilde Korber,
and to Ribbentrop’s secretary Reinhard Spitzy and Admiral Raeder’s adjutant the

late Captain Herbert Friedrichs for anecdotes about Joseph and Magda Goebbels.
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Gerta von Radinger (widow of Hitler’s personal adjutant Alwin Broder Albrecht),
reminisced with me and provided copies of Albrecht’s letters to her, and of her corre-
spondence with Magda. Richard Tedor provided to me copies of rare volumes of
Goebbels’ articles and speeches. Dr K Frank Korf gave me supplemental informa-
tion about his own papers in Hoover Library. FritzTobias supplied important papers
from his archives about the Reichstag fire and trial, and notes on his interviews with
witnesses who have since died. Israeli researcher Doron Arazi gave me several useful
leads on material in German archives. Ulrich Schlie pointed out to me to key Goebbels
papers on foreign policy buried in the German foreign ministry archives. Dr Helge
Knudsen corresponded with me in 1975 about the authenticity (or otherwise) of
Rudolf Semler’s ‘diary’, whose publication he prepared in 1947. I corresponded in-
ter alia withWilli Krdmer, Goebbels’ deputy in the Reichspropagandaleitung; Giinter
Kaufmann, chief of the Reichspropagandaamt (RPA, Reich Propaganda Agency) in
Vienna; and Wilhelm Ohlenbusch, who directed propaganda in occupied Poland.
Wolf Riidiger Hess and his mother Ilse Hess gave me exclusive access to the private
papers of his late father, Rudolf Hess, in Hindelang including correspondence with
Goebbels. The late Dr Hans-Otto Meissner discussed with me Ello Quandt and other
members of Goebbels’ entourage, whom he interviewed for his 1950s biography of
Magda Goebbels. Peter Hoffmann, William Kingsford professor of history at McGill
University in Montreal, reviewed my chapter on ‘Valkyrie’, as did Lady Diana Mosley
those pages relating to her own meetings with Goebbels in the Thirties; Robin
Denniston, to whom I owe so much for twenty years, read through the whole manu-
script, offered suggestions and advised me to temper criticism with charity more

often than I had.

Davip IrvING

LoNDON 1994



Prologue: The Mark of Cain

RE man’s intellectual misfortunes visited upon him before birth, like some
ineradicable mark of Cain, or is he born free of all attributes?

Some basic instincts are inherent, buried deep within the cerebral lobes. That much
is clear. Xenophobia; the urge to mate; the instincts to survive and kill, these are as
much part of the human mechanism as the escapement is part of the clock. But how
is it with the more subtle qualities which, we hope, distinguish man from the lower
orders—his powers to persuade and lead, to cheat and deceive? In short, does the
infant come upon Earth unable to avoid the destiny already implanted in the neu-
rones of his brain? Is it a genetic lottery? Here, a minute virus ordains that this man
shall compose nine symphonies; there, an excess of dopamine will have him hearing
the devil’s whispered commands for the remainder of an adult life that may well be
curtailed by the hangman’s rope.

Every man has some say in his own fortunes. The tangle of nerves and ganglia is not
just a rack which passively stores data and impressions. It is open to each brain’s
owner to work upon it, to devise by intellectual training the swiftest path between it
and the muscles and voice over which it is to be master.

From the convolutions in the brain’s left frontal lobe springs forth the voice that
commands other men to hate, to march, to dance, to die. Moreover, man can condi-
tion this controlling instrument. Man is what he eats, that is true. But his brain is
more than that—it is what he has seen about him too. The operas, the great works of
art and poetry, the ill-defined sensations of national pride and humiliation, all these
impressions are encoded and stored away by the neurons of the brain. And thus
gradually one man comes to differ from the next.

Since prehistoric times the human brain has remained impenetrable and marvel-

lous. Surgeons have trepanned into the human cranium in the hope of fathoming its



GOEBBELS. MASTERMIND OF THE THIRD REICH IS

secrets. The Greeks, the Romans, and the mediaval Arabs all opened up their fellow
humans’ skulls to gaze upon the brain. In 194 5 the American army took Benito Mus-
solini’s brain away for examination; they did the same with Dr. Robert Ley’s brain,
and the Russians with Lenin’s. But no instrument has yet explained the brain’s capac-

ity for evil.

THE BRAIN which indirectly occupies us now has ceased its machinations one evening
in May 1945. Here it is, punctured by a 6°3 5-caliber bullet, lying in the ruined gar-
den of a government building in Berlin. Next to its owner are the charred remains of
a woman, the metal fastenings tumbling out of her singed, once-blonde hair. Around
them both, callously grouped for the photographer, stand a Russian lieutenant-colo-
nel, two majors, and several civilians.

It is May 2, 1945: five p.Mm., and the building is the late Adolf Hitler’s Reich Chan-
cellery. The lieutenant-colonel is Ivan Isiavich Klimenko, head of Smersh (a Russian
acronym for Soviet Counter-Intelligence) in a Rifle Corps. He has been led here by
the Chancellery’s cook Wilhelm Lange and its garage manager Karl Schneider. It has
begun to pour with rain. Klimenko’s men slide the two bodies onto a large red-and-
gilt door torn from the building. They scoop up a fire-blackened Walther pistol found
beneath the man’s body, and another pistol found nearby; a gold badge; an engraved
gold cigarette case, and other personal effects. All will be needed for identification.'

Driving a Jeep, Klimenko leads the way back to Smersh headquarters set up in the
old jailhouse at Pl6tzensee. On the following day he returns to the Chancellery, still
hunting for the Fiihrer. Below ground, inside the bunker, he finds the bodies of six
children in pretty blue nightdresses or pyjamas. He ships them out to Plétzensee too,
together with the corpse of a burly German army officer, a suicide.

The Russians bring all the guests of the five-star Continental Hotel out to Plétzensee,
including a textiles merchant, a chaplain, and a hospital assistant, and invite them to
identify the cadavers.” Even if the receding hairline, the Latin profile, the overwide
mouth, and the unusually large cranium are not clues enough, then the steel splint

with its two ringlike clamps to clutch the calf muscles, and the charred leather straps
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still tying it to the right leg leave no room for doubt at all. The foot is clenched like a
dead chicken’s claw: a club foot.

This is all that remains of Dr. Joseph Goebbels, the malevolent genius whose ora-
tory once inspired a nation to fight a total war and to hold out to the very end.

The Germans carry all the bodies outside on tarpaulins, and a Red Army truck
transports them to a villa some ten kilometres north-north-east of Berlin where the
Soviets are equipped to perform autopsies.

Soviet officers bring in Professor Werner Haase, one of Hitler’s surgeons, and
Fritzsche, one of Goebbels’ senior deputies, to view the bodies.

Haase identifies them; Fritzsche hesitates, but the club foot and the orthopadic
shoe clinch it for him. ‘Check the Gold Party Badge,” he suggests.

The badge is cleaned of soot and dirt, and reveals the number 8762—Goebbels’
membership number in the National Socialist German Workers’ Party (the Nazi
party).

“It’s Dr. Goebbels, Fritzsche confirms.*

This is almost the last public appearance of Dr. Joseph Goebbels. A few days later
the Russians summon Hans Fritzsche out to G.P.U. (secret police) headquarters at
Friedrichshagen, in south-east Berlin and show him a notebook partly concealed by
ametal plate: he recognizes Goebbels’ handwriting, and asks to see more. The Soviet
officer removes the plate and reveals a diary bound in red leather. “We found twenty
of these, up to about 1941, in the vaults of the Reichsbank, he says.

The Russians arrange one final identification ceremony. In a copse near
Friedrichshagen that Whitsun of 1945 they show Goebbels’ entire family, now rest-
ing in wooden coffins, to his former personal detective, the forty year old Feldpolizei
officer Eckold. He identifies his former master without hesitation.*

AMONG the personal effects was a gold cigarette case inscribed ‘Adolf Hitler,” and
dated “29.x.34 . That was Paul Joseph Goebbels’ birthday. He had first opened his
eyes and uttered his first scream at No.186 Odenkirchener Strasse in the smoky
Lower Rhineland town of Rheydt on October 29, 1897; it was a thousand-year old

textiles centre, set in a landscape of traditionally pious Catholics and hardworking
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country folk. “The daily visit to church,” writes Ralf Georg Reuth, Goebbels” most
recent biographer, ‘confession and family prayers at home and their mother making
the sign of the cross on her kneeling children’s foreheads with holy water, were as
much a part of their life as the daily bread for which their father toiled at Lennartz’
gas-mantle factory.’” Their father Fritz Gobbels—that is the spelling in Paul Joseph’s
birth certificate—was W. H. Lennartz & Co’s dependable, Catholic though certainly
not bigoted bookkeeper." It is not over fanciful to suspect that he chose the child’s
second name in honour of Dr Josef Joseph, a revered local Jewish attorney and close
family friend; the child had often been sent round to talk literature with this neigh-
bour.” Fritz persevered with the Lennartz company almost until he died, struggling,
through thrift and application, to provide a better life for his family than he had
known himself.

He himself had been born here to a tailor’s family from Beckrath south-west of
Rheydt. He had the same bulbous nose as his father Conrad Gébbels™ and as his
brother Heinrich, a paunchy commercial traveller in textiles with all the ready wit
that Fritz so sorely lacked. Fritz’s mother Gertrud was a peasant’s daughter. From
first to last his relations with his youngest son Joseph were strained. Aware that his
own career would see little more advancement, he made sacrifices for ‘little Jupp’
(Jippche), which were most inadequately repaid. He struggled painfully for promo-
tion in the firm from errand boy to clerk, then to bookkeeper with a starched collar,
and finally director in the obligatory stovepipe hat. As his father’s life drew to its
close years later, Joseph would see in him only a ‘petty minded, grubby, beer swilling
pedant, concerned only with his pathetic bourgeois existence and bereft of any im-
agination.”"* Among his effects were found blue cardboard account books in which he
had detailed every penny he had spent since marriage." Conceding grudgingly that
his father would in all likelihood go to Heaven, Joseph would write: ‘I just can’t
understand why Mother married the old miser. He painted a picture of his father
lying in bed three-quarters of the day, then reading papers, drinking beer, smoking

and cursing his wife, who had already been about her housework since six a.m. His
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sympathies were all with her. ‘I owe her all that I am,” he once wrote; and he re-
mained beholden to her all his life.

He had his mother’s astute features—the face perceptibly flattened at each side,
the nose slightly hooked, the upper front teeth protruding. She had been born
Katharina Maria Odenhausen in the village of Uebach-over-Worms in Holland, and
occasionally she lapsed into Rhenish Plattdeutsch'* when speaking with Joseph.'* Her
father was a muscular Dutch blacksmith with a long beard, a man Joseph would look
back upon as the dearest of his ancestors. He died in the Alexianer monastery at
Moénchen-Gladbach of apoplexy. Her mother had then moved into Germany to serve
as housekeeper to a distant relative, a local rector at Rheindahlen; she had spent her
youth there with all her brothers and sisters except for Joseph Odenbach, Goebbels’s
architect godfather, who had stayed at Uebach. It was at Rheindahlen that Katharina
had met Fritz Gobbels and married him in 1892.

So much for Goebbels’ parents. Two sons had arrived before him, Konrad” and
Hans." Three sisters followed him: two, Maria and Elisabeth, died young, a third,
also christened Maria, was born twelve years after Joseph. We shall occasionally
glimpse Konrad and Hans, struggling through the depression until Joseph’s rise to
power from which they too profited, being appointed to head Nazi publishing houses
and insurance associations respectively. Maria remained the apple of his eye.*

Through living frugally, and thanks to a pay rise to 2,100 marks per annum, in
1900 his father was able to purchase outright a modest house at No.140 Dahlener
Strasse in Rheydt (still standing today as No.156).” There was no front garden; its
two bare windows beside the front door still overlook a monumental mason’s yard.
Young Joseph had his room under the sloping roof, his mansard window’s view lim-
ited to the skies above. This remained ‘home’ for him, the fulcrum of his life, long
after he left it as a young man.

He remembered his sickly earliest years only dimly. He recalled playing with friends
called Hans, Willy”, Otto (whom he knew as ‘Ottche’) and the Maassen brothers,
and a bout of pneumonia which he only barely survived. He was always a little mite

of a fellow. Even in full manhood he would weigh less than one hundred pounds.
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At age six his mother placed him in the primary school (Volksschule) right next to
the house. Bathing little Joseph his mother often found the weals on his back caused
by one particularly sadistic teacher’s cane. Goebbels was a stubborn and conceited
boy. Fifteen or twenty years later he would reveal, in an intimate handwritten note,
how his mental turmoil both delighted and tormented him. ‘Earlier;,’ he wrote, ‘when
Saturday came and the afternoon yawned ahead of me, there was no restraining me.
The whole of the past week with all its childish horrors weighed down upon my soul.
I seized my prayer book and betook myself to church; and I contemplated all the
good and the bad that the week had brought me, and then I went to the priest and

confessed everything that was troubling my soul.””’

wis right leg had always hurt. When he was about seven, a medical disaster befell him
which would change his life. ‘I see before me,” he would reminisce, ‘a Sunday walk—
we all went over to Geistenbeck. The next day, on the sofa, I had an attack of my old
foot pains. Mother was at the washtub. Screams. I was in agony. The masseur, Mr.
Schiering. Prolonged treatment. Crippled for rest of my life. Examined at Bonn uni-
versity clinic. Much shrugging of shoulders. My youth from then on,” Goebbels mused
piteously, ‘somewhat joyless.’

In adulthood his right foot was 18 centimetres long—3- 5 centimetres shorter than
the left; its heel was drawn up and the sole looked inwards (equino-varus). The right
leg was correspondingly shorter than the left, and thinner. The indications are that
Goebbels’ defect was not genetic but acquired as the result of some disease.” It
defied all attempts at surgical remedy; had the deformation occurred at birth, when
the bones are soft, it would have been relatively easy to manipulate them back into
the right alignment. Perhaps he acquired it from osteomyelitis (a bone marrow in-
flammation) or from infantile paralysis. He would hint, at age thirty, that the de-
formity developed from an accident at age thirteen or fourteen.*

This schoolboy with a large, intelligent cranium, a puny, underdeveloped body and
a club foot lived out his childhood to a chorus of catcalls, jeers and ridicule. It was,

he later accepted, ‘one of the seminal episodes of my childhood... I became lonely
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and eccentric. Perhaps this was why I was everybody’s darling at home.”” He learned
how cruel children could be. ‘I could say a thing or two about that,” he would sigh in
his diary, aged twenty-six.” Each creature, he now saw, had to struggle for survival in
its own way.

When he was ten they operated on his deformed foot. He later recalled the family
visiting him one Sunday in the hospital; he flooded with tears as his mother left, and
passed an unforgettably grim half hour before the anaesthetic. The operation left the
pain and deformity worse than before. But his Aunt Christine brought him some
fairy tales to read, and thus he discovered in reading a world of silent friends that
could not taunt or ridicule.

When he returned to his mansard room he began to devour every book and ency-
clopedia that he could lay his hands on.

He would show them: the brain, if properly prepared and used, could outwit the

brawniest physique.

" Soviet documents on the identification of the cadavers of Goebbels and his family were
published by Lev Bezymenski in Der Tod von Adolf Hitler (Munich, Berlin, 1982), 48ff and
971f; Soviet surgeon Lieutenant-Colonel Grachow established the children’s cause of death
as ‘toxic carbohaemoglobin, and makes no mention of bullet wounds in Joseph or Magda
Goebbels; but for political reasons the KGB also suppressed references to the bullet entry in
Hitler’s head.

* Testimony of Paul Schmidt at Amtsgericht Berlin-Zehlendorf, Oct 21, 1955 (Institut fir
Zeitgeschichte, Munich [hereafter IfZ]: F82, Heiber papers); William Henning in Hamburger
Freie Presse, Nov 5, 1947.

* Testimony of Fritzsche, Apr 30, 1947 (Hoover Libr.: K Frank Korf papers).

* On May j the British ambassador in Moscow was told that the bodies of Goebbels and
family (but not of Hitler) had been found. ‘The cause of death was poison.” (Tel. 1738 to
Foreign Office London [cit hereafter as FO], May 6. Public Record Office [PRO] file FO.371/
46748); also Krasnaya Zvyezda, Moscow, and United Press despatch in NewYork Times [cit. as
NYT ], May 18, 1945.

¢ Former Kommissar of Geheime Feldpolizei Wilhelm Eckold, quoted in “Zehn ehemalige
Generale zuriickgekehrt,’ in Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung [cited as FAZ], Jan 9, 1956; he was
Goebbels’ personal detective 1934-38, 1942-45.

¢ Today it is numbered 202 Odenkirchener Strasse.
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7 Ralf Georg Reuth, Goebbels (Munich, 1990); a solid volume particularly well-researched
in Reuth’s native Berlin archives and the Goebbels papers held by Frangois Genoud in Lausanne
(cited hereafter as Reuth).

* Birth certificate issued by Rheydt-Mitte registrars’ office, No. 1017/ 1897 (IfZ: F82, Heiber
papers); under Germany’s Data Protection Act such documents are no longer available to
historians.—Copy of certificate in Landesarchiv Berlin, Rep. 58, item 47, vol.vii. —JG’s
brother Hans listed their father’s occupation as Werkmeister (overseer) on his NSDAP (Nazi
Party) application form (in BDC files); in his handwritten early memoirs (Erinnerungsblitter,
henceforth cited as EB) ]G himself described his father as a Handlungsgehilfe (trade clerk).—
The Erinnerungsblatter and some diaries (1924—41, incomplete) are transcribed expertly by
Dr Elke Frohlich of the IfZ in Die Tagebiicher von Joseph Goebbels. Samtliche Fragmente (4 vols.)
(Munich, 1987); the original manuscript of EB is on microfiche in packet 26, box 2, of the
Goebbels collection (‘Fond 1477’) recently located by Fréhlich in the former Soviet Special
State Archives in Moscow, a collection of 1,600 glass plates (approximately 80,000 images)
of his diaries and manuscripts, first researched and used by myself. On one microfiche is a
‘“Tagebuch 1897—Okt 1923’ but this diary is nearly empty.—On the family name, see Pe-
ter Jansen’s article ‘Der Sippenname “Goebbels™ by Peter Jansen (of Uebach) in Westdeutscher
Beobachter, Nr.212, Apr 28, 1939; he found traces of GOBELIN (tapestry) and GODEBERAHT
(God-famed) in the name. Also the article ‘Geilenkirchener Land. Stammland der Sippe
Goebbels,’ with photographs of the ancestral Goebbels homes in Uebach, Odenhofen etc.,
ibid., Oct 26, 1938.

* In 1923 Goebbels mentioned a ‘Rechtsanwalt Joseph’ in EB. Dr Josef Joseph published
an open letter to JG in Nov 1944 from his exile in the USA. Giinter Erckens, Juden in
Ménchengladbach (Ménchengladbach, 1989), 189f.

" Conrad was a Hofverwalter (farm bailiff) from Gevelsdorf. He had married Gertrud
Margarete Rosskamp of Beckrath.

' I have adhered more closely to what Goebbels himself wrote in his Jul 1924
Erinnerungsbldtter [EB], “Von 1897 bis zu meinem ersten Semester 1917 in Bonn, than to
Helmut Heiber or to other secondary sources.

" Wilfried von Oven, Mit Goebbels bis zum Ende, 241 (‘Apr 24, 1944).

" Diary, Aug 8, 12, 13, 1924. The birth certificate identifies his job as Handlungsgehilfe
(trade clerk).

** Against which, see New York Times [NYT], Jun 10, 1946: ‘Goebbels Never Helped Aged
Mother’ (an alleged interview of her and Goebbels’ sister Maria).

** Diary, Jul 20, 1924: ‘Dat kémp op Kreg ut’—That comes from the war. On the Dutch
side of the border river Wurm the Dutch spoke Limburg platt, almost identical to the platt
spoken on the German side.

** She was born at Uebach on Apr 18, 1869 and died Aug 8, 1953, aged 84. She stated on
Mar 25, 1948 that her mother Maria Katharina Odenhausen née Coervers was bornin 1824
at Uebach and died in Krefeld, Germany, in 1886; her father (Johann) Michael Odenhausen
was born at Uebach and died at Ménchen-Gladbach in 1880. All were Catholic (Korf pa-
pers).

7 Born Aug 8, 1893; joined the NSDAP in Dec 1928, becoming a Kreisleiter; promoted to
Gau publishing chief in 193 3, acting as business manager of the Vélkischer Verlag in Diisseldorf.
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In 1935 he became publisher of the Frankfurter Volksblatt then head of the Gau publishing
house in Hessen-Nassau and manager of the Rhein-Mainische Zeitung. From 1932 to 1933 he
was in the SA reserve. Promoted to Reichsamtsleiter (a medium Party rank) in 1936.—
Biographical file in the Berlin Document Center and in the National Archives, Washington
DC [hereafter: NA]: Record Group [RG] 319, XE.246725, Werner Naumann.—And, Frank-
furter Neue Presse, Aug 31, 1948.

** Hans Johann Friedrich Goebbels, born Jan 25, 1895, died Aug 13, 1947; joined NSDAP
in 1929 (No.160,449) and the SA in 193 1, rising to Oberfiihrer on Nov 9, 1942.In 1931-32
he was Propagandaleiter of an Ortsgruppe (Local), then of a Kreis (District) and chairman
of a Kreis party court (Uschla). From 1933 to 1945 he was general manager of the Provin-
cial Fire and Life Insurance Co. of the Rhineland, and permanent deputy president of the
provincial Landesversicherungsanstalt Rheinprovinz from 1937.To the rage of his parents he
married a protestant, Hertha Schell, by whom he had a son Lothar (1929) and daughter
Eleonore (1935).—Ibid.

*» Konrad Goebbels, born Jun 6, 1910, died June 11, 1949 leaving one daughter. Maria’s
(deceased) sisters were Maria (died in infancy) and Elisabeth (born 1901, died 1915): testi-
mony, Mar 25, 1948 (Korf papers). There were also aunts and uncles: his mother’s sisters
were Anna Simons (1849-1939 or 1940), Christine Jansen (1856-1939) and Maria Jansen
(1862-1916); her brothers were Joseph Odenhausen (died 1902), Peter Odenhausen (1860-
1915) and Johann Odenhausen (1857-1916).

** In Genoud’s papers are Fritz Gobbels’s bank statements 1900-1920, and a blue account
book in which he recorded every penny spent (Reuth, 14, 17).

* Writing to Anka Stalherm on Sep 17, 1918 he described poring with Willy Zilles over
old school relics—‘a little picture of my First Communion, a school picture of the Second
Form, a dictation book from the First. (Bundesarchiv Koblenz [cited as BA] Goebbels pa-
pers, ‘Film 1, NL.118/109); Frangois Genoud, guardian of Goebbels’s papers (and inter-
ests) owns a letter from Willy Zilles to him dated Jan 4-5, 1915.

* Goebbels manuscript for Else Janke, 1923 (BA: NL.118/126).

* The late Curt Riess, in Joseph Goebbels (Baden Baden, 1950), states that JG suffered from
a bone marrow inflammation at age seven, and the foot deformation resulted from the con-
sequent operation. JG’s diary for Aug 21, 1930 records his brother Konrad as suffering from
an unspecified chronic foot complaint.

** Later he would suggest it was a war injury: Party Court, session of Jun 10, 1927 (BDC
file, Goebbels; author’s microfilm DI-81).

¥ EB, 1924. Wilfried von Oven saw that a Somerset Maugham novel about a youth born
with a club foot, taunted and bullied in his childhood, featured prominently in JG’s book-
shelf in the Second World War (Finale Furioso, Tiibingen, 1974, 289f).

** Diary, Jul 11, 1924.



1: Eros Awakes

HE OTHER boys at the Gymnasium in Rheydt’s Augusta Strasse, which he

entered at Easter 1908, regarded him as a sneak and know-all.' He in

gratiated himself with teachers, particularly with the scripture teacher
Father Johannes Mollen, by telling on his truant comrades. ‘My comrades,” he would
confess, ‘never liked me, except for Richard Flisges.” He would find Flisges in the
upper fifth (Obersekunda) in 1916. His closest friends were three ‘Herberts’—
Hompesch, Beines, and Lennartz.’ Herbert Lennartz, son of his father’s boss, died
after a minor operation leaving Goebbels grieved and shocked. It moved him to
compose his first poem (‘Why did you have to part from me so soon?’)*

At first he was lazy and apathetic, numbed by the realization of his physical de-
formity. Then he overcompensated, and later he was never far from the top of the
class. His love of Latin came falteringly at first, then in full flood. With biting irony
and sarcasm Christian Voss tutored him in German literature—and in sarcasm and
irony as well. While brothers Hans and Konrad had to leave school early, Joseph
excelled.® His agile brain enabled him to tackle everything, his essays attracted scowls
of envy from his fellow pupils. With clenched fists and gleaming eyes young Goebbels
listened as history teacher Dr. Gerhard Bartels taught his class about Germany’s
chequered past.® His father and mother wanted him to become a priest—mnot just
because the church would then pay for his higher education; they were a deeply

religious family. When Joseph’s little sister Elisabeth died in 1915 they all knelt around



24 GOEBBELS. MASTERMIND OF THE THIRD REICH

her death-bed and held hands and prayed as a family together for her soul.” Joseph
composed another poem for her, ‘Sleep, baby, sleep.’

When the Great War came in August 1914 his friends all rallied excitedly to the
Kaiser’s colours; he too went to the local recruiting office, but the officer dismissed
him with barely a glance. Back at school he wrote a thoughtful essay, ‘How can a non-
combattant help the fatherland in these times?” He argued in it that ‘even those who
are denied the right to shed their blood for the honour of the nation” could be of
service, ‘even if not in such a creditable way.” His teacher marked it ‘Good’.*

The classroom emptied as the war dragged on. His pals Hubert Hompesch and
Willy Zilles wrote him exciting letters as fusiliers from the western front.” His brother
Konrad was a gunner and Hans was soon in French captivity." In one exercise book
Joseph, now in the Upper Sixth (Oberprima) , wrote in 1917, ‘“We have already wit-
nessed great and terrible events. Greater still and even more terrible is what lies in
store for us. May the German people persevere, because if we do then victory can-
not be long in abeyance.” Again his teacher red-inked gut onto the essay." As author
of the best essay, Goebbels had the honour of delivering the valedictory speech when
school ended on March 21, 1917. He implored his listeners that they were the very
elements of a Germany on which the entire world now gazed with fear and admira-
tion; he spoke of Germany’s ‘global mission, not merely as a nation of poets and
thinkers, but one entitled to become ‘the political and spiritual leader of the world.*
‘Very good,’ the headmaster Dr Gruber told him. ‘But mark my words, you’ll never
make a good orator!’"

Goebbels passed the school-certificate examination at Easter 1917. In the main
qualities—conduct, attentiveness, behaviour, diligence, and handwriting—he gained
a string of “very goods,’ as he did in religion, German and Latin; in Greek, French,
history, geography, physics and even in mathematics he was gut. He again tried to
enlist, but was accepted only for a few weeks’ service as a penpusher at the Reichsbank.
His painful deformity had thus given him at least one advantage, a headstart on his
later comrades in the political battle. He would already be at university while Adolf

Hitler, Hermann Géring, and Rudolf Hess were fighting under the skies of Flanders.
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His intellectual horizon was expanding. In 1909 his father had purchased secondhand
a piano, that symbol of the solid middle class; the family and neighbours clustered
round as four furniture-men manhandled the piano indoors. Joseph rapidly mas-
tered the instrument. He also developed a talent for play-acting and mime. At age
thirteen he saw Richard Wagner’s majestic opera ‘Tannhduser’ and was inspired by
the romantic dive and sweep of the master’s music.'* But what was to become of him
now?The priesthood? Goebbels inclined briefly toward medicine, but Voss, his teacher,
persuaded him that his real talents lay in literature. Whichever the subject, the uni-

versity at Bonn it would be.

JjosePH Goebbels reaches puberty at about thirteen. But given his later reputation is it
worth emphasising that he will be thirty-three before he first has sexual intercourse
with a woman.* For the intervening twenty years this brilliant but celibate cripple’s
life will be a trail of temptations, near-seductions, and sexual rebuffs etched into his
memory. At thirteen he and his pal Herbert Beines have a grubby mudlark of a friend,
Herbert Harperscheidt, whose stepmother Therese always wears crisp, clean skirts;
so Joseph Goebbels recalls fourteen years later. The sexual arousal that he first de-
tects towards this mature female returns when he is fifteen. He harbours secret crushes
on women like Frau Lennartz, the factory owner’s wife. Evidently another passion-
object, his brother Hans’s girlfriend Maria Liffers, does not return his feelings be-
cause his teachers and her parents protest and Goebbels has a frightful scene with his
father. All of his pals have girlfriends—Hompesch has one enticingly called Maria
Jungbluth. Goebbels however senses only a ‘dark yearning’ as Eros awakes in him.

‘My libido is sick, he will write aged twenty-six. ‘In affairs of the heart we humans
are all scandalously selfish. For the phallus we sacrifice hecatombs of immortal souls.”**
Basking in what he sees as one woman’s love he will reflect, ‘I am everything to
her. . . Or am I allowed to savour life’s treasures more intensely because I am doomed
to depart it early on? Now and again I have this premonition!”"”

At age eighteen, in 1915, he begins a three year infatuation with a local girl, Lene

Krage. He calls it love, and will long recall their first chaste kiss in Garten Strasse.
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But she is capricious and flighty, and his tormented soul drives him to the time-
honoured refuge of writing a private diary. At Christmas 1916 he sends her a book of
his own poetry. Leaving Rheydt for Bonn university in March 1917 he says farewell
to Lene. They find themselves locked in Kaiser Park that night, and he kisses her
breast for the first time: characterizing this milestone event seven years later he
writes coyly, ‘She becomes a loving woman for the first time.” It will become clear

that he means this only in the broadest sense.

HE was to study philology, Latin, and history. Desperately lonely, he lodged in a cold
bare room. His aspirations were overshadowed by hunger, cold, fatigue, and ill-health.
He had made one good friend in the law student Karlheinz Kélsch however and
fagged for him as the Leibfuchs (freshman valet) in the tradition of all medizeval uni-
versities. ‘Pille’ Kélsch, as he was known, remained his foppish, loud-voiced, jovial,
staunch friend and rival long after their careers had drifted apart. With his modish
headgear and yellow gloves, K6lsch became his first role-model." He roped Goebbels
into the tiny Bonn chapter (‘Sigfridia’) of the Catholic fraternity Unitas on May 22,
1917." Its half-dozen members spent the weekly meetings solemnly debating reli-
gion and quaffing beer in the local hostelry, The Cockerel. A record of the fraterni-
ty’s get-together on June 24, 1917 shows them all partaking of Holy Communion,
then listening while Goebbels—who had chosen the classical name of Ulex for him-
self—delivered a well-received speech on “Wilhelm Raabe and us.”** The fraternity
bulletin refers to Ulex as one of their ‘splendid foxes’ (freshmen) and ‘determined to
do honour to the principles of Unitas.’”

His funds ran out, which scarcely mattered as at the end of July 1917 he was briefly
inducted into war service, and absolved his obligations by pushing a pen for a few
weeks in a home auxiliary service (he wrote an excellent copperplate script). He
was keen to continue at university, but his father could put up only fifty marks per
month; Joseph earned a little more by tutoring. He frittered away that summer with

Lene on vacation, spending at least one chaste night with her on her sofa at
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Rheindahlen, and committing to his memory that she ‘stayed pure’. He left a number
of unpaid bills at Bonn, which his father settled.

The winter semester began on October 1, 1917. He submitted a formal applica-
tion for aid to the Diocese in Cologne. The Albertus Magnus Society there provided
aid to promising young Catholics. The documents’ supporting his application show
that his father now earned 3,800 to 4,000 marks per annum, and had no liquid

assets. His scripture teacher Mollen testified:

“Herr Goebbels comes from decent Catholic parents and deserves commenda-

tion for his religious fervour and his general moral demeanour.“

Father Mollen, his mentor and spiritual benefactor, would explain years later that
he furnished this testimonial with the clearest conscience: ‘He was a very promising
scholar. For nine years he had taken scripture lessons from me and had always shown
much interest, comprehension, and devotion. He regularly attended school church
services and the monthly Communion. His attitude to me was confident, proper,
and reverential” The parish priest at Rheydt seconded him. Backed by these docu-
ments, Goebbels humbly submitted on September g, 1917, his application to the
Diocesan Committee of the Albertus Magnus Society for financial support for the

winter term 1917-18.

“Because of a lame foot I am exempt from military service, and I should dearly
like to continue my studies next term. For this however I am entirely thrown

upon the mercy of the charity of my Catholic fellow-believers.*

The charity evidently asked him to produce an attendance certificate from Bonn
university. He explained on September 14 that he had not been able to complete the
term. Convinced that his was a worthy cause, the Society sent him 185 marks as a
first interest-free instalment of a loan finally totalling 96 4 marks—about three months
of his father’s pay. His address was now given as No.18 Post Strasse in Bonn; he

would return there in October 1917.
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BY the time of his final Ph.D. examination in November 1921 he would have attended
five different universities; this was not unusual in Germany. The reasons are obscure:
sometimes he was pursuing a particular girl, sometimes a certain professor, some-
times a special course; frequently the lack of lodging space in one city decided that
he should study elsewhere that term instead.

His speaking talents were already developed. Hompesch told him he was a born
orator. ‘Motor mouth!” joked Kélsch’s brother Hermann in one letter, “There you
go, shooting it off again. Well, there’s nobody can touch you on that score.”“We really
ought to open a stall, Hermann joked in a letter two weeks later, ‘and do the rounds
of the church fétes displaying you as the Man with the All-Round Mouth.’**

Goebbels and ‘Pille’ K6lsch were inseparable. They arranged for Jesuits like Father
Rembold to lecture to the students, and once Goebbels proudly invited his old scrip-
ture teacher, Father Mollen, to lecture too. At Bonn he studied under Adolf Dyroff,
professor of philosophy. He attended the literary seminars of Professor Berthold
Lietzmann, and wrote well-regarded essays for Professor Carl Enders on the youth-
ful drama fragments of Johann Wolfgang Goethe. He stayed on in Bonn after term
ended on February 1, and moved into Kélsch’s lodgings in Wessel Strasse. The April
1918 issue of the Unitas journal reported that the two friends had decided to study

next in Berlin.

AT CHRISTMAS Goebbels discovers his pal’s sister Agnes Kélsch and his yearning for
Lene turns to aversion. Agnes visits him one day and they exchange one passionless
kiss on his sofa. She foolishly introduces him to her sister Liesel, and an informal
triangle develops lasting well into the new year. Agnes visits him in Bonn, and they
spend the night together—‘Ulex’ kisses her breasts; as he recalls it, she is all over
him. After this he spends weekends at the Kélsch family home at Werl except once
when Liesel her sister comes to Bonn: Agnes is all but forgotten.’* Goebbels recalls
having been considerate to her, but he congratulates himself, with a certain smug-

ness, ‘She is all over me.” Agnes’ mother encourages Goebbels’ relationship with
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Agnes although his immaturity is painfully evident.* ‘She is still a child,” he adds in
his own writings. ‘We are both children’’

Wiriting six years later, he recalls these amorous forays in far greater detail than his
more academic pursuits. ‘Barely went to university, he confesses. ‘Pille’ K6lsch mean-
while has opted for Freiburg in south-western Germany; Ulex sets off in his com-
rade’s footsteps for the summer term beginning in May 19138.

At Freiburg Pille embraces him, his eyes gleaming. ‘Ulex!’, he announces, ‘I've
already found this great girl. Anka Stalherm. She’s a student—you’ve got to meet
her” (“And how deeply and completely I have done just that!’, writes Goebbels six
years later, still besotted with Anka.)

Female students are in 1918 still rarities at German universities, and Anka is a
rarity among these. She is reading economics. Her eyes glitter blue-green, she wears
her blonde hair hair long with a few strands caught up in a knot on top*; her ankles
are slim, and her legs are rumoured to be equally divine. She is twenty-three, two
years older than Goebbels. With her Ursuline convent education in Germany and
England behind her, she has inherited class, beauty, and wealth as well—her late
father owned a distillery and cornmill in the Rhineland.”

Kolsch and Goebbels become friendly rivals for Anka’s affections. Among her ef-
fects will later be found a faded picture postcard showing Goebbels at some student
revelry wearing a lampshade on his head.” Pille has penned a fond message on the
back. And yet—Iet this be made clear in advance—sexually, Goebbels will get no-
where with her; nor she with him.”

But the pursuit, the pursuit!

Since Anka is a regular at Professor Hermann Thiersch’s seminars on classical
archeology, Goebbels signs on for them too. Glowing reports reach the charity in
Cologne about his interest in these three-hour lectures. And the miracle happens:
Anka Stalherm, this goddess of the mysterious grey-green eyes, she who is coveted
by half the males at Freiburg university, saves her smiles for when he walks in, or so
it seems to him. She is fascinated by this swift intellect. They go out as a threesome

for strolls up Freiburg’s Castle Hill or into the Black Forest. Kolsch suffers torments
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of jealousy, which enhances Goebbels’ sense of triumph. He serenades Anka on a
rented piano, and one precious night he sleeps under the same Black Forest roof as
her. The three students tour the sleepy towns along the shores of Lake Constance,
with Goebbels dreamy-eyed in blissful anticipation. At Ravensburg he plays the huge
cathedral organ for them.

Oppressing him despite these carefree moments are his poverty and his own jeal-
ousy when she spends days away with Kélsch. His uncle Heinrich Cohnen, a wealthy
insurance-director friend of his father’s, twice wires him loans. The Catholics are less
forthcoming. While the Unitas journal reports the unexpected revival of their Freiburg
chapter thanks to Ulex and his pal, after August 1918 Goebbels’ name vanishes from
its pages altogether.

The delicious pursuit of Anka continues. Every detail of her coquettishness re-
mains implanted in his memory—the cigarettes she deftly filches from him, his let-
ter of reproach, her silent rapture when Goebbels reads out his latest epic, his pri-
vate glee at Pille’s jealous suffering, and their reading of Gerhard Hauptmann’s “The
Sunken Bell” together in her room, where Goebbels serenades her on the piano but
ascertains that she is, alas, ‘chastity itself”

His first letter to her is dated June 15, 1918, a wordy, Latin-garnished, solemn
epistle addressing her formally as sehr geehrtes Fraulein Stalherm, embellished with
four lines of carefully crafted verse and signing off ‘with quite a lot of greetings,
yours faithfully, ]. Goebbels € Ulex.”** Persistence and intellect are rewarded. Up on
Castle Hill one afternoon—it is June 28, 1918—he kisses her for the first time:*
not on the lips, but on one cheek.” There is a problem: she is of far higher pedigree.
There is an unholy row when she does not invite him to meet her visiting brother
Willy. And he agonizes over her dalliances with Kélsch: which does she prefer? One
evening she pleads with him on bended knee to declare his love for her, and he real-
izes that women too can suffer.

As she leaves Freiburg at the end of July 1918 after one last night of stifled passion,
he visits their old haunts. He sits in the forest hut high above the university city,

listening to the rain beating on its roof, and imagines himself all alone on earth. He
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writes her romantic messages. ‘Love has gone away,” he writes. “The flower has died.’
He begins to compose a five-act play, ‘Judas Iscariot.””* He misses Anka badly.** Why
must the most beautiful roses have the sharpest thorns? He reminds her of their first
hour together, reading the poetry of Theodor Storm. He will miss her, with her
dreamy eyes and lustrous golden hair. Their hour of parting comes—"0, avert not
thine eyes...They are glistening and moist. O, do not weep, we are not parting for
ever. Come give me thy dear hand, dost thou feel how the same pulse beats in both
our veins? Tomorrow we sally forth into the world.” ‘And now, fare well. Come, give
me one more parting kiss, and do not weep.” After she has left the little Castle Hill
boarding house, clutching an armful of roses he has bought her, he returns to that
meadow and lies all evening thinking about her until far into the night. The next day
there is a card from her—she still has his roses in her arms. ‘How I envy those roses,
he writes back, the flattery flowing freely from his pen.

As the Freiburg term ends he dreams of moving to Munich, but the lack of lodg-
ings there thwarts him and he returns home. During the summer vacation he ex-
changes scores of letters with Anka, sometimes twice a day. His letters to her reveal
a young man still physically frail and lonely; they suggest that he has elected to enter
the Church. Romancing Anka occupies every other waking hour. His catchword is
wahnsinnig—crazy: that is what he is, he confesses, about her. He scrawls that word
in the corner of letters, or leaves it unfinished just as waaa—. He is untroubled by
the wail of rage that comes from Agnes Kolsch: ‘I thought far too highly of you, too
noble and too mature,’ she writes him on August 15, 1918: ‘Fare well, it was not
meant to be.”* Much ink is expended trying to arrange various trysts, which Goebbels
sometimes prudishly cancels because her worried mother (unimpressed by this par-
venu) and her sisters disapprove.** Once she gives him a red rose. It graces his desk at
Rheydt beneath a carved Black Forest heart she has given him earlier.”” On August 17
he is completing Act Three of ‘Judas.” ‘Good night, dear Anka,” he writes her teas-
ingly. “Think of an afternoon at the Waldsee Lake, and how there is one thing’—he
does not specify what—*that Ulex always finds so terribly difficult.** He recalls to

her that first triumphant kiss on Castle Hill. His soldier brother Konrad, home on



32 GOEBBELS. MASTERMIND OF THE THIRD REICH

leave, jokes to him that he will probably be able to greet him as a cardinal later on.
Konrad inquires about the carved heart on the wall. ‘A gift from the Archbishop of
Freiburg?” he asks ironically. ‘From his lady housekeeper,’ replies Joseph with a sala-
cious wink.*

Joseph beavers away on ‘Judas.’+* Anka incautiously shows it around and in no time
the clergy of Rheydt are asking him angry questions about it.* On August 27 he is
summoned to his former scripture teacher Father Moller, who draws his attention to
the pernicious nature of such writings. ‘I was so furious I would have torn “Judas”
into a thousand shreds if I had had it with me, writes Goebbels. The priest requires
him to undertake to destroy even his own copy of the script. Has all his toil been for
nothing? ‘What shall I do?’ he appeals to Anka. ‘I am in despair.’** (The play survives
among his papers.) It marks his first break with the Church. He declines the sum-
mons by Unitas to attend their general assembly in Miinster to report on the sum-
mer semester at Freiburg. Instead, he carouses with his pals in Diisseldorf. ‘Last
night,” he tells Anka, ‘we played music. We listened to two Chopin nocturnes, and
Beethoven’s “Pathetique.” I now play a lot of Liszt rhapsodies. . . Afterwards we talked
until one A.M. about freemasons. [Fritz] Prang’s father is in a Lodge.” ** In a second
letter that day he asks Anka to plant a tender kiss in one corner of her next letter.*
He reads from Richard Wagner’s diaries, he plays the Master’s music to his pals, and
he commends to Anka one entry which touches, he says, on one bone of contention
existing between them.* Her mother is dismayed that they are still liaising; once,
Anka asks if his mother is upset too.*

Kolsch has been thrown out of their Catholic fraternity. Goebbels has supported
the ouster, explaining to Anka: ‘My best friend turned out to be a scoundrel.” When
Anka ironically calls him a Puritan he responds that Unitas has principles.*” By this
time he has learned from her that Kolsch has sexually propositioned her.* To seal
their friendship, she loyally shows him the letter concerned. Of her solely maternal
interest in him there seems no doubt. ‘Do you know what I should like now?’, she
writes to the pintsized student Goebbels. ‘Just to stroke my fingers through your hair

and clasp you so tight that you look quite desperate.’*
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Her widowed mother’s disapproval grows. He records in dismay that she regards
him as a homo molestissimus and clearly frowns on any notion of them both attending
the same university next term. He stifﬂy asks Anka to inform him where she will be

studying, ‘so that I can cross that university off my own list.”**

ON September 3, 1918 Konrad Goebbels returns to the western front. He accuses
his younger brother Joseph of not taking any interest in the war and finally extracts
from his a promise to read at least the daily war communiqués. Konrad declares that
he is proud to be fighting for his fatherland. ‘As you will realize,” Joseph drily informs
Anka, ‘he is Mother’s darling. While I claim that privilege, remarkably, more of my
father” But he adds, ‘I believe my mother is the best at understanding me.s" He
advises Anka to read his version of the Last Supper, where Judas—with whom he
thus identifies—talks about his mother, how he sulks and does not eat, and she just
shakes her head and murmurs, ‘Judas, Judas;” and how bitterly he weeps thereafter. *’

He hopes that Anka’s mother will relent and agree to them studying together at
Munich. His father prefers Bonn or Miinster, both nearer to the parental home. ‘The
decision is in your mother’s hands,” he writes to Anka.* A friend tells him that she has
boasted to his fiancee about her last evening with Goebbels at Freiburg.** Goebbels
scolds her for having so rudely dragged in the dust the memory of these, ‘the most
sacred and beautiful hours of my life.’” In the same letter he repents and asks, ‘May 1
to-day for the first time press a tender kiss upon your rosebud lips?’** In her reply,
she mocks his stern morals. She has decided to study that winter at Wiirzburg. He
therefore chooses Wiirzburg too, and finds lodgings on the fourth floor of No.8
Blumen Strasse—"A wonderful room right beside the river,” he describes to Prang.**

Ecstatic that she is so close by, he sends her a note as soon as he settles in, perhaps
justifying his lack of physical ardour. ‘If love is only in the mind, he explains, ‘it
might be called platonic; if only physical, it is frivolous, ugly, un-beautiful. It is the
noble union of these two factors that creates the ideal love. *’

At Wiirzburg his studying begins in earnest. He ploughs through ‘Crime and Pun-

ishment,” he regularly attends the seminars on ancient and modern history, and on
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German literature. The Armistice of November 1918 makes little mark on him. His
father writes pleading with him to come home if things get too dangerous in
Wiirzburg.** Goebbels notices the returning troops, the popular sense of dismay, the
establishment of enemy zones of occupation; he sees Anka weeping, he hears of com-

munist mobs rampaging in Bavaria.

A few days ago [he writes to Fritz Prang on November 13, 1918] we had a big
meeting here in the Auditorium Maximum... and one of the older students,
wounded in the war, had this to say: ‘Just now the blind and raw mobs seem to
have the upper hand. But maybe the time will come again when they will feel the
need for an intelligent lead, and then it will be for us to step in with all our

stren gth J

‘Don’t you also feel, he asks his friend, ‘that the time will come again when people
will yearn for intellectual and spiritual values rather than brute mob appeal?’

More letters go to Anka. He writes her the kind of letter that romantic females
long to receive.” In her replies she frets about his frailty, and swears undying love. ‘I
hope you’ve gone to bed long ago,’ she writes in one, ‘and are dreaming that I am
pressing the trend’rest kiss upon your forehead to dispel your gloomy thoughts for
all eternity.’* For the first time in his life he misses the carol service on Christmas
Eve; he spends the hours in Anka’s room, and watches entranced as she kneels at her
bedside to say her prayers. He sleeps in her chaste embrace—but that is all.*

By the time they both leave Wiirzburg on January 22, 1919, the Belgians have
occupied Rheydt. An Allied iron curtain has descended across the Rhineland. Sick
and hungry, Goebbels writes her at four-thirty A.m. on a deserted platform, waiting
for the slow train to Cologne.* At the Honnef checkpoint a friendly young Tommy
wearing a soupbowl helmet waves him through. At Cologne he has to wait all night—
‘the whole station milling with Englishmen, B lacks, and Frenchmen.** Anka writes
to him in Rheydt that she misses Freiburg; her sisters, shown Goebbels’ photographs,
prefer his head to the full figure, she candidly writes.* He looks desperately ill: he is

suffering from chronic headaches, for which the university’s professor of medicine
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has found no cure.” A ten p.M. curfew is in force. The Belgian censors will not pass
letters written in German script; gradually his handwriting deterioriates. Without a
frontier permit, travel to Recklinghausen is impossible. Anka’s mother wants their
relationship ended anyway; upon her return home, her mother has dragged her off
to church to confess her sins. Anka tells Goebbels she has prayed for him. He sets up

her three latest photos in his room, including one on a sunlit Castle Hill.**

THE post-revolutionary government ordered elections for January 26, 1919. On the
election eve he heard his old teacher Dr. Bartels speak for the Democratic Party. ‘1
was strengthened,” wrote Goebbels, ‘in my opposition to the Democrats.” All his
former schoolmates would vote for the Catholic Centre or the more rightwing Ger-
man Nationalist party; already, Goebbels inclined toward the latter— “There are
still Germans in the German Fatherland, thank God.” He envied those living outside
the occupied territories like Anka in Recklinghausen. ‘God grant,’ he wrote her, his
letters displaying political fervour for the first time, ‘that our Fatherland will once
more become the way we knew it as children.* In the election, despite pressure
from their father (the local returning officer), Joseph and his brother Konrad both
voted for the German Nationalists.* ‘Grim times, he predicted a few days later, ‘lie
ahead for us Germans.”* A talk with organised workers at Rheydt has convinced him
that they might have a real case against their capitalist oppressors.”

That May of 1919 Anka returns to Freiburg. Kélsch is down there too. Goebbels
hurries to join them. A French Negro soldier lets him through the checkpoint at
Ludwigshafen. Anka seems cooler, and confesses one morning that she has slept with
Kolsch. Goebbels forgives her and kisses away the tears of contrition welling in her
eyes. For an instant of happiness she is willing to accept an eternity of perdition, he
will write in July 1924; a truly divine female, but not one for him to marry, he
decides.” They would destroy eachother. He finds her love soothing, yet invigorat-
ing. Anka has a Russian grandfather which explains, he decides, why her love is so
boundless and overwhelming. Each time he sees her again over the years that follow,

his knees will knock and his face will flush just like the first time.””
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One afternoon in 1919 there is a knock at his door in Freiburg and Richard Flisges
walks in, rain dripping from his demob. trenchcoat. An ex-lieutenant, he is back
from the wars, decorated and embittered, his arm in a sling.”” He has failed the uni-
versity entrance examination and will now turn into a pacifist and agitator against
the established order of things. Goebbels listens eagerly to this rootless, ill-educated,
disillusioned soldier. He has always had a respect for the lower orders. Writing to
Willy Zilles in 1915 he has discounted the poet Horace’s theme of odi profanum vulgus
et arceo (‘I hate the vulgar mob and keep them at a distance’) preferring instead the
romantic poet Wilhelm Raabe’s motif: Hab’ acht auf die Gassen! (‘Pay heed to the
street!”)* Flisges introduces him to the socialism of Karl Marx and Friedrich Engels
and Walther Rathenau and implants further trace-elements of the anti-bourgeois
class struggle in Goebbels. Thus, while Goebbels attends the seminars on Goethe
and on the era of Sturm und Drang he begins to think more about the social and
political issues scarring the defeated Germany. In the evenings he argues about God,;
he is beginning to have serious doubts about his religious beliefs.

He and Anka leave Freiburg early in August 1919., He has to borrow one hundred
marks from a friend, and pawns his watch to a waiter to pay for supper. He has to
spend the autumn break at Miinster as his identity papers will not get him back into
the occupied Rhineland. Anka phones him every day in the local cafe, but he can
barely afford the obligatory cup of coffee. He begins to write his own life story as a
novel, ‘Michael Voorman, in which Anka is identifiable as the heroine Hertha Holk.
He gets home to Rheydt crossing the frontier illegally in an overflowing train at
Diisseldorf. On September 19 he posts to the Albertus Magnus Society a fresh appli-
cation for funds.

Later, heading south to Munich with Anka, they pause briefly at Frankfurt where
he visits Goethe’s house. But why tarry in this Jewish city, he asks himself, when
Munich beckons from afar? He borrows 1,200 marks from yet another schoolfriend
and finds lodgings in Munich on the second floor of Papa Vigier’s at No.2 Roman

Strasse, out in Neuhausen. On October 29, his twenty-second birthday, Anka writes
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in his diary, ‘National Holiday!” He sends two more postcards to the Catholic char-
ity; the stamp on one is overprinted with the legend People’s Republic of Bavaria.

The charity makes him a final loan of 250 marks. At Munich he studies under the
Swiss art historian, Professor Heinrich Wolfflin; he studies music under Professor
Hermann Ludwig Baron von der Pfordten and Catholic theology under Professor
Joseph Schnitzer. But his real intellectual nourishment is from what he takes in at the
galleries and museums—the paintings of Arnold Bockling, of Carl Spitzweg, and of
Anselm Feuerbach. He reads voraciously, devouring Sophocles” drama ‘Antigone,
August Strindberg’s “The Red Room, Thomas Mann’s ‘Death in Venice,’ and assorted
works by Henrik Ibsen and Leo Tolstoy.

Again he auctions his suits, sees Anka pawn her own gold watch, hocks his own
watch for a pittance to—he recalls in 1925—an ‘insolent Jew. Such stereotyped
references are rare in his early letters. On the contrary, he writes to Anka once
gently rebuking her. ‘As you know, I can’t stand this exaggerated antisemitism,’ he
wrote, in a reference to their teacher Gerhard Bartels. ‘I can’t claim that many of my
best friends are Jews, but my view is you don’t get rid of them by huffing and puffing,
let alone by pogroms—and if you could do so that would be both highly ignoble and
unworthy.” There is still little trace of the later murderous antisemitism in Joseph

Goebbels.

' The year is recorded in JG’s 1921 handwritten curriculum vitae appended to his doctoral
dissertation (Reuth, 17).

* An article on Flisges is on microfiche in packet 26 of the Goebbels papers (Moscow
archives).

> A one hour interview of Hompesch’s wife taped by Westdeutscher Rundfunk in 1987 is
in Ménchen Gladbach city archives.

* JG, ‘Der tote Freund, Apr 1912 (Genoud papers; Reuth, 20).

¢ See his school reports 1912-1916 in BA file NL.118/113.
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¢ See JG’s eulogy, ‘Gerhardi Bartels Manibus!” Dec 6, 1919 (BA: NL.188/120).

7 Fritz Gébbels to Joseph Goebbels, Nov 9, 1919 (facsimile in Neue Illustrierte, Jun 6,
1953; original now in BA file NL.118/112).— According to an article, ‘Studentenbriefe,’ in
Ruhr Nachrichten, Dortmund, May 12, 1953, JG left a suitcase filled with snapshots, love
letters (including 115 letters from Anka Stalherm and ‘one letter by Joseph Goebbels to
Georg Mumme’), poetry, press clippings and other early documents with his mother for
safekeeping. Worried by a 1943 air raid on Rheydt he phoned his brother Hans to place the
case in safety; Hans deposited it in the lung clinic at Holsterhausen operated by the Rhineland
Insurance Fund of which he was president. In about Feb 1945, according to Frau Hildegard
Meyer, a nurse at that clinic, Hans came to destroy the papers as the Americans approached;
she persuaded him to let her take them. She sold them to the Catholic ‘“Wort und Werk
GmbH’ publishing house, according to an article in Abendzeitung, Aug 31, 1954 (IfZ archives).
Alerted by these press items, Swiss lawyer Frangois Genoud acquired title to JG’s writings
from the administrator of Goebbels’ estate by contract of Aug 23, 195 5, subsequently amended
on Oct 21, 1955 and Mar 12, 1956, and he fought several legal actions against Frau Meyer
and others to establish his title to them in 1956, 1963, and 1964 in Germany.—From court
papers in the author’s possession.

* JG, ‘Wie kann auch der Nichtkdmpfer in diesen Tagen dem Vaterland dienen?’, class
paper dated Nov 27, 1914; quoted in ‘Joseph Goebbels bewarb sich beim “Judenblatt”; (JG
applied for job with ‘Jewish rag’) in Westdeutsches Tageblatt, Jul 7, 19 54; these papers from his
youth had just been sold in a Berlin auction. They are now in BA file NL.118/117.

* Now in Genoud’s possession.

** Hans served in 160 Inf. Regt., was in French captivity from Jun 16, 1916 to Jan 22,
1920 (BDC file).

" BAfile NL.118/117.

" Text in BA file NL.118/126.

' Joseph Goebbels, Yom Kaiserhof zur Reichskanzlei (Berlin, 1934): Apr 25, 1933 (cit. here-
after as Kaiserhof).

** Diary, May 8, 1926.

* Ibid., Dec 6, 1930 (Olga Férster).

* Ibid., Jul 28, 1924.

7 Ibid.Jul 2, 1924.

* Ibid., Jun 2, 1929.

v See Kolsch’s contribution inUnitas, organ of the association of Unitas Catholic student
fraternities, 57th year, No, 5, June 1917, 227 (BA file NL.118/119)

** The text is in Genoud’s papers (Reuth, 30)

" Programm zum Vereinsfest des Bonner Unitas-Vereins, Jun 24, 1917; Unitas, Jun and
Aug 1917 (IfZ: F82, Heiber papers and BA: NL.118/119)

 Extracts from 24 of these were published in Echo der Zeit, Jul 21 and 28, 1952. And see
the article ‘Ein feiner Vertreter des Dritten Reiches, by Studienrat Karl Klauck (clerk to the
Society since 1914) in KolnischerVolkszeitung, Jan 31, 1952; also documents in BA file NL.118/
113.

 Hermann Kélsch to JG, Nov 1o and 25, 1917 (Ménchengladbach city archives); Bering,
119.
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* JG’s correspondence with Agnes Kélsch is in BA file NL.118/111.

** Writing to JG on Nov 16, 1917 Mrs Kélsch called herself his Miitterchen (little mother)
number two (BA file NL.118/111).

** Diary, Jul 24, 1924; and Mar 20, 1929: Anka’s son Christian is ‘just like her: blond with
blue eyes.’

7 Agnes (‘Anka’) Stalherm was born on Oct 8, 1894 in Recklinghausen; died of cancer in
1955, and is buried at Horben, above Freiburg—=See the curriculum vitae in Freiburg’s
Albert Ludwig-University archives, 1922, appended to her dissertation, ‘Kapitalbedarf und
Kapitalbeschaffung in der Industrie nach dem Kriege.” I am indebted to Anka’s friend Irene
Pranger and daughter Annette Castendyk (née Oswald) for information about this key fig-
ure on Goebbels’ romantic horizon.

* Undated postcard from Karlheinz Kélsch to Anka in Freiburg (Pranger collection).

» Her daughter volunteered to me (interview, Nov 1o, 199 1) that Anka told her she found
Goebbels intellectually attractive, but physically not.

** ]G to Anka Stalherm, Jun 15, 1918 (BA: NL.118/109); two letters on this file dated
‘Feb 1918’ are in fact from Feb 1919.

** Writing her on Sep 9, 1918 he asks if he may kiss her rosebud lips ‘for the first time’
(ibid.)

* On Jan 26, 1919 he writes her that there is a snapshot of her on Castle Hill meadow on
his desk, ‘and for Ulex it is as though he must sit down and press a tender kiss on her dear
cheek just like then’ (ibid.)

> Entitled ‘Judas Iscariot. Eine biblische Tragddie in fiinf Akten von P.]J. Goebbels, the
107pp. manuscript, written on squared paper in immaculate, legible, copperplate Siitterlin
script, is dedicated to Anka Stalherm ‘in tiefer Verehrung’ (with deepest respect). (BA:
NL.118/127)

* ]G toAnka, Jul 30, Aug 3, 4, 1918 (BA: NL.188/127)

» Agnes Kélsch to ]G, Aug 15, 1918 (BA: NL.118/112).

* ]G to Anka, Aug 28, 1918 (BA: NL.118/109). Frau Castendyk (interviewed, Nov 1o,
1991) says Anka’s mother regarded JG as an Emporkommling (parvenu).

7 Cf. JG to Anka, Sep 9, 1918, 10 A.M.

** Ditto, Aug 22, 1918

» Ditto, Aug 23, 1918

* Ditto, Aug 20, 1918

* Ditto, Aug 26, 28, 1918

* Ditto, Aug 30, 1918

* Ditto, Aug 31, 1918

“ Ditto, Aug 31, 10 P.M.

# Ditto, Sep 1. He was referring to Wagner’s diary entry for Oct 1, 1858.

“ Ditto, Aug 30, 1918

# Ditto, Aug g and 11, 1918

* Ditto,Aug 11, 1918

* Anka to JG, Aug 11 (ibid.)

 JG to Anka, Aug 26, 1918

** Ditto, Aug 30, 1918
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* Ditto, Sep 2, 1918

# Ditto, Sep 3, 1918

* Ditto, Sep 8, 1918

 Ditto, Sep 9, 1918

* JG to Prang, Sep 14, 1918

¥ JG to Anka, Oct 5, 1918

** Fritz Gobbels to JG, Nov 14, 1918 (BA: NL.118/113).

* Ditto, Nov 25, 1918.

* Anka to JG, Dec 21, 1918

¢ JG memoirs 1924.

* JG to Anka, Jan 21, 1919 (BA: NL.118/109).

* Ditto, Jan 25, 1919.

** Anka to ]G, Jan 25, 1919.

* JG to Anka, Jan 29, Feb 4, 10, 1919.

* Ditto, Jan 26, 1919

“ Ditto.

* Ditto, Jan 27, 1919

* Ditto, Jan 29, 1919

7 Ditto, Feb 24, 1919 (BA: NL.118/109).

7 Diary, Jul 14, 1924.

7 Ibid., Jun 9, 1925.

7 See JG to Anka, Mar 16, 1919 (BA: NL.118/109).

* ]G toWilly Zilles, Jul 26, 1915 (Ménchengladbach city archives; Reuth, 24); JG’s essay,
‘Wilhelm Raabe, Mar 7, 1916, is in Genoud’s papers.

]G to Anka Stalherm, Feb 17, 1919 (BA file NL.118/126).



2: Prodigal Son

WHILE at Freiburg university in 1919 Joseph Goebbels turned his back on
the Catholic church. Perhaps the suffocating Catholicism of the diocesan
city of Wiirzburg had contributed to his restlessness. He was certainly deeply trou-
bled by the nature of God and what he saw as the falsification of the true faith by
idolatrous priests. In his novel ‘Michael” he allowed his hero to brood upon this di-
lemma. The result was much portentous, empty rhetoric except for the one propo-
sition: ‘It hardly matters what we believe in, so long as we believe in something’—
the essence of the later Joseph Goebbels.

In July 1919 the Unitas journal reported that ‘Herr Gobbels” had seceded from
their fraternity. He continued to doubt and waver, and wrote to his father on Octo-
ber 31 about this torment (‘But if I should lose my faith...”) The letter contained,
Fritz Goebbels replied, ‘much to please me, but again much to cause me pain.’
Goebbels spoke of the diligence with which he was persevering in his studies and—
be it noted—stressed that he had not compromised his morals. But Joseph Goebbels
added: “Why don’t you tell me that you curse me as the Prodigal Son who has left his
parents and gone into the wilderness?”!

On November 7, his father sent him an angry reply, followed two days later by
more a reasoned epistle setting aside his son’s doubts. With good will on both sides,
he believed, their former relationship could be restored. Many a young man was
tormented by doubt, he wrote. “There is no victory,” wrote Fritz Goebbels, ‘without
struggle” There was no reason for keeping away from the Holy Sacraments: ‘For
what adult can claim to have approached the Lord’s Table at all times with the child-

like pure heart of his First Communion?” He challenged his wayward son to answer
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this question: ‘Do you intend writing books that are not compatible with the Catho-
lic religion?’ Then he reminded him of how they had prayed together at the deathbed
of Elisabeth: “What was the one consolation in our grief then? It was this: that the
dear little soul had been properly provided with the last rites of our Holy Church,
and that we could pray for her together.

Scripture teacher Father Moller would recall that after leaving university Goebbels
would continue to speak at Catholic conclaves: ‘I myself always stayed in touch with
him " Years later, his parish priest would tersely justify his original recommendation

to the Albertus Magnus Society: ‘None of us could see into the future.’

unpiR the influence of Flisges and his own study of Dostoievsky Goebbels became
politically aware. He was now twenty-two and leaning politically to the left. When
the student Anton Count von Arco-Valley was sentenced for the assassination of the
extreme leftwing prime minister of Bavaria Kurt Eisner, Goebbels became curious
about socialism. Being as yet more of a literary than political inclination he explored
his ideas in a drama, scribbled in an exercise book, entitled “The Working Classes’
Struggle.”” Still poised on an awkward threshold between God and profanity, he re-
called four years later his mental turmoil, his yearning for God, his crushing poverty,
and Anka’s inability to help. Again he pawned his watch and set off, alone, for home.
In a few days during the Easter break he sketched another socio-political drama, “The
Seed’ (later ‘Blood-Seed’).’ He tried to get employment as a teacher in East Prussia
or in Holland (he had a smattering of maternal Dutch.)* As the communist revolu-
tion swept across the Ruhr, Goebbels decided to make his home run for that Ph.D.
degree; he chose Heidelberg to make the attempt.

That Christmas he found himself alone in Munich, prevented by the Allied occupa-
tion authorities from joining his family at Rheydt for the festivities. He stayed in the
Bavarian capital, as Wagner’s ‘Ring’ cycle was to be performed at the National Thea-
tre; he found himself strolling through the cobbled, snowswept streets on Christmas
eve, entirely deserted save for a police constable wrapped to the ears against the

cold. From somewhere came the sound of children singing; and then of a piano—
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Schubert, the melodies borne through the air, he would later write, as though on
angels’ hands. ‘T know not how long I stood there,” he wrote. ‘Only that I sat that
evening in a quiet, dark corner of the church of Our Lady and celebrated Christmas
alone, as though in a dream. On December 29 I went to the Tyrol, going up into the

eternal mountains satiated with the sounds of Wagner.”

HE and Anka have drifted apart since that Christmas of 1919. As recently as Decem-
ber 19 they mooched along the shores of Lake Starnberg and Anka has sketched in his
pocket diary a room with two (single) beds. She has given him a gold bracelet. He
has given her Heinrich Heine’s Book of Ballads with a fulsome dedication. But she
begins to make possessive scenes; he takes refuge in Tolstoy’s “War and Peace,’ he
alternately fights with her or forges fantastic plans of marriage, then sees them ship-
wrecked on her bourgeois attitudes. He ‘runs into” her in Freiburg and finds that she
too is making for Heidelberg. He persuades her to study elsewhere—‘What an idiot
I 'am," he recalls later, perhaps rationalizing his own failure to hold on to her. They
have entered that cruel phase on an overlong affair when each partner derives more
pleasure from making the other suffer.

When he next sees her it will be Whitsun. He reads from ‘The Seed’ to her, but
she, the wealthy miller’s daughter, is alienated by its leftwing political message. The
rift widens. She begins to see his close friend Theo Geitmann.® Chagrined, he re-
turns the bracelet. He offers her formal engagement (‘If you don’t feel strong enough
to say yes, he writes, ‘then we must each go our separate ways’); she turns him
down.” After one unsatisfactory night with him on the chaiselongue and her in bed
he pencils a four-page letter of farewell in which he calls out her name appealingly
twenty-four times, a romantic torrent of pleas to return to his embrace. ‘Is it over
really? . . Thave known only you, you were the whole world to me, the most beauti-
ful world that could ever be conceived, and I have lost it—Ilost it through my own
fault.” Perhaps this last night has been a turning point for them both. ‘Do you think
you’ll ever find another who can love you so?” he asks, and conjures up the spirit of

unfaithful Tristan (‘Dying,” declares Wagner’s murdered heroine Isolde, ‘still I kiss
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him!”) ‘I rest my fortune in your lenient woman’s hand,’” concludes Goebbels. ‘Cast
the first stone if you must. May it then dash me to pieces, and may you never come to
regret it.” Satisfied by this literary effort, he leaves the letter unsent.’

Spending the autumn break at home he reads Dostoyevsky’s “The Brothers
Karamazov,’ and suffers a nervous collapse. He pens a testament, dated October 1,
1920, in which he allocates his books, his alarm clock, his inkwell and other pathetic
chattels to his friends: they are to sell off clothing to repay his debts—to his father,
Director Cohnen’s wife, a Bonn jeweller and the Albertus Magnus charity. He wills
his poetry and novella to Flisges and his mother (in that order). ‘Miss Anka Stalherm
is to be urged to burn my letters. . . May she be happy and not brood upon my
death.’ The final sentences hint unmistakeably at suicide: ‘I depart gladly from a life
which has become just hell for me.”” He folds this into a small envelope, but takes no
further action.

‘Jealousy,” he will write later, reviewing this period, ‘is the death of love.” Pocket-
ing his pride he sends more letters to Anka, now back with her family at
Recklinghausen: his brother Hans also pleads with her; neither receives a reply.

That autumn of 1920, learning that she is in Munich, he borrows money from his
brothers and sends his trusty friend Flisges to find out more. Flisges writes that Anka
has been seen escorted by a gentleman in a flashy waistcoat ‘with many gold knobs
and pins.”"* Distraught, Goebbels hurries from Heidelberg to Munich, to Anka’s ad-
dress in Amalien Strasse; while he waits outside, Flisges stomps upstairs. But she has
left for Freiburg the day before, ‘with her fiance.”"* She has fallen for Georg Mumme,
a young, stodgy law student five years older, and with better financial prospects, than
the crippled @sthete Goebbels."” In a daze, Goebbels writes to her a vile letter which
gives him brief satisfaction. ‘Chin up!’, Flisges maturely advises him. ‘Don’t lose
your head.” Goebbels writes to Anka in remorse. Her reply is the last for several
years. She is ‘very unhappy, she confesses, as she knows that he is the first and last
man who has ever loved her with such intensity. ‘I will always be your true Anka,’ is
her final empty salutation.” Goebbels responds that he regrets nothing that he has

said or written her: ‘T had to do it, a devil in me drove me to it.”**
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To the interloper Mumme—whom she shortly marries—he writes what he calls a
‘rather categorical’ letter. In the new year he will ask her to return all his poems and
love letters. ‘Anka, thou murderess!” he reproaches her memory, and eight years
later her betrayal will still fester in his mind. ‘Anka walked out on me, he will write.

‘And my entire relationship to women has suffered ever since.”s

HE had hoped to study for his degree under the distinguished Friedrich Gundolf,
professor of literary history at Heidelberg. Gundolf (Gundolfinger) had written the
definitive biography of Goethe. When Goebbels arrived at the university for the
summer term of 1920 however Gundolf directed him to Professor Max Baron von
Waldberg, a fellow Jew who had authored many a work on the history of literature.
Waldberg assigned as his doctoral topic the obscure playwright Wilhelm von Schiitz
(1776—1847). In his competent dissertation Goebbels made perhaps over-frequent
use of the first-person (as in, ‘As far as I can see. . ) and carefully praised the opin-
ions of Gundolf and Waldberg." Later he would have the university’s records doc-
tored to imply that his dissertation was more concerned with the political undercur-
rents of the Early Romantic Period; and when in 1943 the university ceremonially
renewed his degree they tactfully omitted Waldberg’s name from the festivities.
Universities, like lawyers, have never been ashamed to aspire to what even the Gods
do not: namely to alter that which has already happened, in accord with the spirit of
the age.

He did not ignore the other sex entirely during these last months of his formal
studies. He would later refer cryptically to perhaps a score of females— ‘Miss
Schucking’ was one, ‘a young Swedish girl” another, ‘the beautiful Belgian’ and ‘the
beautiful violinist” two more. Since Mumme had now threatened legal sanctions if he
did not stop pestering Anka Stalherm,” Goebbels took his revenge by rewriting
‘Michael’ to make the heroine suffer as much despair as he.

Back at Heidelberg after Christmas 1920 Professor Waldberg told him to study
another term before submitting his dissertation. Goebbels returned to Rheydt in

March 1921 to draft and redraft the masterpiece while Flisges kept him company. An
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unwary comrade loaned him his fiancée, Maria Kamerbeek, to type the dissertation.
He dedicated the completed 21 5-page opus to his parents. Waldberg was impressed
and offered a few suggestions for improvement (‘But it’s already typed,” wailed
Goebbels in his notes and submitted it unchanged.) He attended the oral examina-
tion in the prescribed top hat on November 18, 1921.The four professors included
Waldberg himself. At that evening’s seminar party Waldberg addressed him with a
knowing wink as Herr Doktor.

Thus he had made it. He now had the coveted title which opened doors to class,
wealth, and authority*. He shared his triumph with his rowdy friend Richard Flisges;
they caroused all night long, then travelled tipsily north to Bonn still wearing their
top hats. Their friends, also sporting top hats, were waiting on the platform.Then on
to Rheydt: the humble house in Dahlener Strasse was bedecked in flowers as the
Prodigal Son returned, haggard but well spoken, educated, and Latin in his looks. If
there had been a fatted calf to kill, old Fritz Goebbels, eyes awash at this visual proof
that he was pulling his family through into a better future, would surely have done

SO.

" Fritz Gobbels’ correspondence with ]G is in BA files NL.118/112 and /113.

* Fragment of a Drama, ‘Kampf der Arbeiterklasse,” winter 1919/20 (Genoud papers;
Reuth, 45).

* ‘Die Saat. Ein Drama in drei Akten, von Joseph Goebbels. The cast includes: the worker,
his wife, their son; first, second, third workmen; the French lieutenant; a French sentry.
‘The setting is somewhere in Germany’—Handwritten MS in BA file NL.118/107.

*JG toAnka, Mar 4, 1920 (BA: NL.118/ 1 10); speaking the Plattdeutsch dialect of Rheydt
he would have found it easy to learn Dutch.

* ]G, ‘Sursum corda!” in Westdeutsche Landeszeitung, Nr. 55, Mar 7, 1922 (on film in Ménchen-
Gladbach city library; courtesy of Reuth).

¢ See JG’s correspondence with Geitmann and others in BA file NL.118/112.

7 ]G to Anka, Jun 29, 1920 (BA: NL.118/126).

* The four sheets show no folds.—]G to Anka, undated (BA: NL.118/118).

> ]G, ‘Mein Testament, Rheydt Oct 1, 1920. Not witnessed; inked on a small page evi-
dently a flyleaf torn from a book (BA file NL.118/118; a similar version in /113).

** Flisges to JG, Oct 31, 1920 (BA: NL.118/112)
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" JG memoirs 1924.

" Dr Georg Mumme, born Brunswick Oct 31, 1892, joined NSDAP Feb 1, 1930 (No.
190,196), later headed the Gau legal section of Thuringia and the legal department of the
Reichsleitung (NSDAP headquarters) in Munich; died in Diisseldorf in 1970 (BDC files).

" Anka to JG, Nov 24, 1920 (BA: NL.118/126); diary, Aug 7, 1924.

"+ ]G to Anka, Nov 27, 1920 (ibid.)

' Diary, Apr 3, 1929.

]G, ‘Wilhelm von Schiitz als Dramatiker. Ein Beitrag zur Geschichte des Dramas der
Romantischen Schule, Ph.D. thesis, 215 pp., Ruprecht-Karls university, Heidelberg, r921.

"7 Diary, Jan 20, 1929: ‘I tell [Anka] of the terrible pain I felt at our separation when ...
[Mumme] was so lousy to me and turned up with a lawyer... But I believe she was probably
not to blame for it.

** A copy of the diploma dated Apr 21, 1922 is in BA file NL.118/128.



3: ‘AWandering Scholar, I’

JOSEPH Goebbels cherished that Doctor’s title. He asked to be called ‘Herr Doc-
tor’ and used it even when just initialling—‘Dr G.” But for the next four years
he remained perforce a nihilist doing nothing. To the quiet despair of his parents he
squandered the pittance that he did earn from his meagre writings or tutoring, Ger-
many meanwhile slithered into economic chaos. The marching resumed: the Poles
into Silesia; new parties in Germany; Mussolini on Rome. On January 11, 1923 the
French marched into the Ruhr. President Friedrich Ebert called for a campaign of
passive resistance, and the French put the twenty-nine year old Albert Leo Schlageter
before a firing squad for sabotage." Later that year a young malcontent called Adolf
Hitler, 34, staged a coup d’état in Munich, was double-crossed by the Bavarian poli-
ticians, and imprisoned at Landsberg, Berlin undertook to pay reparations at the rate
of 2-¢ billion marks a year. Economic ruin faced Germany.

Goebbels neither noticed, nor protested, nor cared. His head was in the clouds.
He even cast plans with Flisges to emigrate to India. But since that would cost money
too, he lay on his bed at home and drank in Oswald Spengler’s writings on the de-
cline of the west instead. The truth about his middle twenties was therefore unedifying,
and in later years he would skirt around it in ever-widening circles. Later he allowed
legends to circulate about his heroic undercover activity and early commitment to
the Nazi party. Clad in what looked like infantry battledress, he was heard beginning
one speech in Frankfurt in the winter of 1924—2¢ with the words, “Those of us who
have our injuries from the war...”” He later claimed to have attended his first Party

meeting during his months at Munich university. (Reworking his drama ‘Michael’
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he would elaborate: he had heard an unnamed speaker of extraordinary magnetism
speak— ‘Among utter strangers. .. workers, soldiers, officers, students. But then all
of a sudden, the flow of his speech is unleashed. It’s like a light shining above him. .. the
audience is aglow. Hope shines on grey faces... A miracle. Among the ruins is some-
one who has shown us the flag”) He had applied there and then to join the Party, he
claimed. In 1927 the Goebbels legend would maintain that he had actually advised
Hitler in 1919 when the Party programme was drafted. All of this was quite untrue.
He would also suggest that in 1923 Hitler had commanded him to infiltrate into the
occupied Ruhr, where under an assumed name he had led a resistance cell not far
from the martyr Schlageter himself, until the French had deported him. ‘If we had
been too refined,’ he would brag in 1943, ‘none of us would have survived the year
1923.” Goebbels too was behind the ‘letter’ which would circulate in later years,
which he had allegedly sent to Hitler in Landsberg jail (‘Like a meteor you soared
aloft before our astonished gaze. . . Your address to the court in Munich was the
greatest speech in Germany since Bismarck.”)

These legends endured even in the obituaries printed by his enemies.* ‘I am not a
little astonished,” wrote his fellow Nazi Karl Kaufmann in June 1927, ‘that Dr Goebbels
portrays things so differently. The rumour I have heard in Berlin, that Dr Goebbels
was already advising Adolf Hitler in Munich on the programme of the N.S.D.A.P. in
1919, is also totally untrue.” Dr Goebbels had neither joined the passive resistance in
1923 nor taken any active part in it, said Kaufmann: Goebbels was not even an early
Party member. True he would somehow wangle a low number, 8762, for himself
but he did not in fact join until early 1925.

Fortunately Goebbels utilized idle hours in July 1924 to write up his early life.
Hitler is mentioned only once, in a passing reference to 1923: ‘Bavaria. Hitler.

He was rootless, restless, and now friendless too: Richard Flisges had left to work
in the mines. Challenged by the Albertus Magnus Society to give due account of his
progress, Goebbels replied grandly on January 10, 1922, that he was looking out for
a position in the press or theatre. After carrying half a dozen of his pieces, the

Westdeutsche Landeszeitung published no more although he heard that they had attracted
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much attention. He worked briefly as the newspaper’s art critic but was made re-
dundant just before his birthday in 1922.° A few days later he delivered a public
lecture on Oswald Spengler and other contemporary literature; he praised Spengler’s
critical remarks about the Jews, which had gone to the root of the matter and ‘must
inevitably bring about a spiritual clarification of the Jewish problem,” in Goebbels’
view.” His mother’s suitcase would hold clippings of just a dozen newspaper contri-
butions by Dr phil Joseph Goebbels.® Among the literary products of these otherwise
idle years were another drama entitled ‘Heinrich Kampfert’> and manuscripts with
titles like ‘Gypsy Blood,’ “Those who adore the Sun,’** and ‘A Wandering Scholar, I.""
His poems were called, ‘Deep in my Reveries I wandered the Dark Forest, ‘Prayer,

‘The Death Song of the People,’ ‘Sleep Baby, Sleep,’ and ‘At Night."*The latter reads:

[ awoke one night.

You lay by my side.

The pale moon played on your left hand,
And it was white as snow.

But your right lay on your heart,

And rose and fell,

As your breast did rise and fall.

THE hand, the breast in question belong to Else Janke. One morning he sees a pretty
girl in Rheydt and Herbert Hompesch whispers that she is Else Janke, a school-
teacher and orphan. She is well built and motherly; he, so slight that, seeing him
from the rear once, she thinks him only twelve years old.” He will later describe her
variously as ‘a rare mixture of passion and prudence’** and as ‘a lovely, sweet-tem-
pered chatterbox.”* Interestingly he will write: ‘I often think of her as my mother.”**

What strikes her most, she relates years later, are his expressive eyes. She and Fritz
Prang’s girlfriend Alma Kuppe both teach at the Rheydt school attended by Goebbels’
young sister Maria. Else teaches needlework and physical instruction. They make up
a foursome, go sailing, or on excursions together to places like the local Rheydt

Castle.”” He will later recall an evening with her in the summer of 1922: he kisses
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her, she tries to slap him, he makes as if to leave, she detains him, and they walk out
all night long while they talk about their lives. ‘I tell her about Anka,” he will recall,
adding with a trace of disappointment, ‘She remains demure.” Rebuffed again!

From Baltrum, a Frisian island resort, she wires him not to come: he borrows
money and disobeys. They stroll each evening along the sand dunes, but again he has
to record, ‘She is demure.” Up in her room he swears his love for her. ‘I kiss her to my
heart’s content. She resists no longer.” Inspired by seeing Else nude for the first time
(‘just as God created her’) he will rewrite his long-suffering ‘Michael’ to include a
scene where the eponymous hero struggles to conjure up the Muses on a Frisian
island— ‘T lie on the dunes and wait for a word from God’s mouth.

To his annoyance Else will not admit to their relationship in public. The crippled
Dr Goebbels has much to learn about the mysterious fluids and capillaries that, mixed
together, make up the female brain.

Perhaps he still derives most pleasure from the anticipation, the plotting, and the
romantic language of an affair. His girls are bowled over by the literary style and the
intensity with which he woos them. He sets Else and Alma to copying out his articles
and verses. But his writings are universally rejected by the big Jewish publishers like
Mosse and Ullstein in Berlin. He remarks to Else that you cannot get ahead unless
you are ‘one of the boys.” Else makes no response.

‘My creativity is zero, he writes. “Why? Am I a failure?’

Else visits her family’s friends in the banking world and finds a clerical job for him
at the Dresdner Bank in Cologne. He does not rejoice—indeed his mood seems to
darken. In a sombre letter to Else at Christmas he lays bare his tortured soul at such
length that we must ask where true emotion ends and conscious posturing begins.
He is not keen about working in a bank. ‘Even if out there in the world the money-
changers sneer and mock at real love,” he writes to Else, ‘should not our love, my
dearest girl, should not our great and abiding love still adorn our lives?” And so his
letters ramble on, half sermons, half diatribes, acres of blank verse and poetry scat-

tered at the feet of his admiring if tiny audience.
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Else firmly considers herself engaged to him, and even discusses with Alma whether
his deformed foot might be congenital and affect their children? Goebbels has a
quarrel with her about his deformity: whereupon she mentions a minor drawback of
her own—she is half Jewish. This has not dawned on him until now. The magic goes
out of his life, to be replaced by a nagging scepticism about her.

Starting at the bank on January 2, 1923, he sees at first hand the unpalatable side of
capitalism, and reacts with repugnance to the ‘sacred speculation’ by the rich and
affluential. The country’s banks, he finds, are nearly all Jewish. He begins to ponder
upon the relationship between das Judentum (the Jewish community) and the Money
Problem. The more he looks around the more he perceives the Jews—young Otto
Klemperer whom he hears conducting a Gustav Mahler symphony turns out to be a
Jew; so does Mahler. He studies Houston Stewart Chamberlain, he finds himself
troubled by the Jewishness of Else and there are more rows with her sisters.

He cannot ignore the contrasts. He himself has to set out from Rheydt each morn-
ing at five-thirty and gets home at seven or eight each night, while his pay packet
shrinks in value through the galloping inflation that has set in. ‘Cologne is ad nauseam,’
he writes. ‘Pay cheque worthless.” (On March 27 he sends the Albertus Magnus soci-
ety a ten thousand mark banknote; it is worth less than one gold mark.) From his
grim lodgings in No.77 Siebengebirgsallee in a southern suburb he writes endless

letters to his ‘little rosebud’ Else.

My Dear Child, Your roses have found a spot right in front of your
picture. .. There will be no money before the fifteenth. That means you will have
to wait another week. To-day, after banking hours, I took a stroll through the

town... As for money, we’ll get that somehow.

He yearns for her. “Why have we two, so much in love, been born into so wretched
a time?” And yet: ‘I am firmly convinced that the time will come for me to use my
real strength.” To those who accuse him of being lazy he will answer: ‘T just want to

use my strength and my heart and my conscience for a better cause.” Germany should
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not look to the tycoons and the bankers for the new millenium, he writes, but to

those who have remained true to themselves, ‘and haven’t soiled their life.’

LYING in a deckchair on Baltrum island one July afternoon in 1923 trying to avoid
Else’s tedious sister Gertrud, he received the shattering news that Richard Flisges
had been crushed to death down the mines at Schliersee.” He would dramatise his
grief, wallowing for months in self-pity; and he rewrote the ending of ‘Michael’ to
send his hero down the mines to his death despite a premonition of doom from his
landlady. He has Michael die on January 3o: that date is a kind of premonition too.

Upon his return from Baltrum, the bank fires him. Keeping the tuth from his par-
ents, he continued to commute to Cologne, but barely troubled to scan the newspa-
pers for vacancies although he assured Else that he did." During his six weeks away
the mark’s value had dwindled to almost nothing. The U.S. dollar bought three mil-
lion marks on August 1 and 142 million eight weeks later. Else’s savings shrank. He
wrote to his father pleading illness—a nervous disease which must be congenital, he
said—and his father begged him to come home and even sent the fare.” Fritz Prang
found him a new job as a caller on the floor of Cologne’s stock exchange. He wrote
an essay about Flisges which the local newspaper published at Christmas.™

Trapped in his lodgings, Goebbels’s brain fevered on. He brought forth a new
drama, ‘Prometheus, and in September another play, “The Wanderer," in which a
Traveller guides an often despairing Poet across the heights and sloughs surrounding
the German people.”” He witnessed from afar the collapse of passive resistance; he
lived sometimes in an alcoholic haze, because one guilder would buy fifty beers. The
words Judentum, Qual (anguish), and Verzweiflung (despair) whirled kaleidoscopically
around his jottings. ‘Politics, he noted. ‘I don’t know whether to weep or laugh at it.’

Else had given him a notebook and on October 17, 1923 he resumed his famous
diary.” ‘I can’t stand the anguish any longer,” he wrote. ‘I've got to set down all the
bitterness that burdens my heart.” For Goebbels, writing the diary became some-
thing of a fetish, an advance programming of his brain for great things to come. He

was aware of a messianic sense of mission. ‘On guard, friend!” he would admonish
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the diary on July 7, 1924: ‘Make your sacrifice! Fulfil your mission!” And a few days
later: “Who am I, why am I here, what is my task and what my purport? Am I a
wastrel, or an emissary who is waiting for God’s Word?” And he added: ‘Again and
again one shining light escapes the depths of my despair: my belief in my own purity,

and my conviction that some day my hour will come.

‘WHERE are you now, my dear deceased?’ he appealed on the first anniversary of
Flisge’s death. “Why don’t you give me some portent of where we must go and what
we must do to obtain deliverance. . . Leave me not in despair!’** Friendless and job-
less, he sank to a low point of mental decline that bordered sometimes on suicide.’
As inflation roared out of control his father became increasingly monosyllabic. “Why
must so many give me up as beyond hope,” Goebbels had asked Else in a letter in June
1923, ‘and consider me lazy and unreasonable and un-modern?” Overshadowing their
whole relationship is her Jewishness, from which there is no escape: in November
1923 she writes to him, ‘Our whole row recently about the racial problem kept
coming back to me. I just couldn’t stop thinking about it and saw it really as an
obstacle to our future relationship. In fact I think you’re far too obsessed about the
whole thing.* So he stayed at home, whiling away the hours in the summer house
which his parents had built, his powerful thoughts riding on ahead of his frail frame.*
He dreamed of launching his own journal in Elberfeld; but where to raise the capi-
tal?”* He fancied himself winning the literary prize offered by the Kélnische Zeitung
with ‘Michael” and travelling the continent as a much-acclaimed scholar.” ‘But no-
body pays me anything for what I write,” he moaned in August 1924.*°

He yearned helplessly for Anka and her glittering green eyes, and spent days sort-
ing out the letters they had exchanged.* ‘Just one day together, he wrote in his
notes, ‘and we would understand each other again.’** As for the fleshy reality of Else
the teacher, he could hear her girlish commands to her charges floating up to his
room from the schoolyard next door. “Why does Eros taunt me?” he complained. He
daydreamed about a summer honeymoon with Else in Italy and Greece.’* A deep,

unremitting despair had seized him. He bemoaned the God that had created him a
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crippled weakling. ‘Despair, despair!” he lamented. ‘I can’t bear to live and see all this
injustice. I must join the fight for Justice and Freedom! Despair! Help me, O Lord,
I am at the end of my strength!!!”*

The more the products of his festering intellect were rejected by unseen editors,
the more he saw the Jews behind his torment. He wrote at length on January 23,
1924 to Mosse’s Berliner Tageblatt, applying for a job as sub-editor and boldly asking
for 250 marks per month. The curriculum vitee which he appended to this applica-
tion was more than economic with the truth: he claimed to have studied modern
‘theatre and press history’ from November 1921 to 1922 at Bonn and Berlin—in
fact he had never visited Germany’s capital; more recently, he said, he had privately
studied economics and had become familiar with ‘broad areas of modern banking’
during his nine months at the Dresdner Bank. ‘In consequence of minor nervous
problems caused by overstrain at work and an accident’—he had been suffered inju-
ries in a mugging a year before—‘I was obliged to give up my employment in Co-
logne.”* Theodor Wolff, Mosse’s editor, who turned him down, was Jewish.* The
diaries for the next years show him in a painful light—introspective to the point of
obsession, scribbling plays, articles, and critiques for a public no larger than himself
and, sometimes, the woman in his life. With dwindling hope but dull obstinacy he
kept submitting the little, thirty-thousand word typescript of ‘Michael Voorman’ to
new publishers.” He felt like a bird with clipped wings. Why even get up in the

morning? ‘Nothing awaits me—mno joy, no suffering, no duty, no job.”**

HE had already tried his hand at public speaking—his notes refer to a November
1922 talk in Rheydt, well received in the local press.” Once in June 1924 he and
Fritz Prang visited a local communist meeting. Invited to speak, Goebbels was inter-
rupted immediately: ‘Capitalist swine!” He rounded on his heckler. ‘Here is my purse,
he challenged. “You show me yours.The one who has the most is the capitalist swine!’
The miners and textile workers roared with laughter and allowed him to speak on.*

In the wake of the Munich putsch the Nazi party had been banned; with Hitler

imprisoned, its former members had splintered into factions like the V6lkisch-Sozialer
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Block, a coalition with the former Deutsch-V6lkische Freiheitspartei (German Folkish
Freedom party) founded by landowner Albert von Graefe.” The charismatic leader
of the Nazis in northern Germany was Gregor Strasser, a wealthy pharmacist from
Landshut in Bavaria. These rightwing groups had fared well in the election of May 4,
1924, attracting 65 percent of the votes. On June 29 Goebbels looked in on one
pettifogging meeting of Graefe’s party at Elberfeld. He was not impressed. ‘So these
are the leaders of the “folkish” movement in the occupied zone, he scoffed in his
diary. “You Jews, and you French and Belgian gentlemen, don’t have much cause for
worry. He had evidently heard more positive word about the Nazis in Bavaria be-
cause he added: ‘If only Hitler were free!’ The local folkish chieftain was the politi-
cian Friedrich Wiegerhaus. He was worthy, obliging, and good-natured. “This notion
of a“folkish” Greater Germany isn’t bad,” wrote Goebbels, ‘but we lack any capable,
hardworking, and high-minded leaders.** Germany, he concluded in a typical Goebbels
phrase, was crying out for a leader, like the thirst of parched summer earth for rain.
‘One man!!! Bismarck sta up! My brain and heart reel with despair for my father-
land.+

What were his politics at this time? His reading had vested him with some surpris-
ing inspirations. The memoirs of August Bebel (1840-1913), the founder of the So-
cial Democratic party, had taught him not to lose heart.#The real workers, Goebbels
concluded, were in fact nationalist to the core. The Jews, intellectually head and
shoulders above Bebel, had run rings around him. Goebbels for a time even de-
scribed himself as a German communist; but this was more for the Russian origins of
communism than for what it said as a creed. He read the diaries kept by Henri
Alexandre de Catt as private secretary to Frederick the Great and three times after-
wards quoted the great monarch’s dictum: ‘Life becomes a curse, and dying a duty.’
Reading more of Thomas Mann he felt that the great novelist had declined after
writing ‘Buddenbrooks.” When he ploughed through Richard Wagner’s autobiogra-
phy he identified painfully with the maestro’s anguished struggle to survive in Paris,
and his physical suffering. He saw Wagner as a wage-slave enchained by the ‘filthy

Jew’ Schlesinger. “The philistine today, noted Goebbels, ‘will read that with the com-
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forting reflection that, yes, things were tough for Wagner. That’s the artist’s lot. “Thank
God it doesn’t go on nowadays”."#

Looking around, he scowled at his smug, shallow-minded, pinstriped contempo-
raries, their lives dominated by the pay packet, football, and sex, and he understood
why the communists hated the bourgeoisie.* In July 1924 he began holding little
political meetings at his house (in his parents’ absence), and told them about the
great socialist experiment in Russia— ‘the glow from the east,’ he called it in Latin
in his diary: ex oriente lux. Only the Jewish nature of the Bolshevik leadership both-
ered him. ‘Men of Russia!” he wrote, ‘Chase the Jews to the devil and put out your
hand of friendship to Germany!’¥

He was not however an international socialist. The great Germanic works inspired
him. He immersed himself in Johann Sebastian Bach’s ‘St Matthew’s Passion, and
discovered Wagner’s ‘Meistersinger.*" His antisemitism was reinforced by reading
the book ‘Prozesse’ (Trials) by Maximilian Harden—he recorded afterwards that
Harden was not a German at all but a Polish Jew, Isidor Witkowski.* “What a hypo-
critical Schweinehund this damn’ Jew is,” he wrote; and then, broadening his aim:
‘Rogues, blackguards, traitors: they suck the blood out of our arteries. Vampires!’
Harden, he decided, was a dangerous man precisely because he gave his writing all
he had—pungency, a caustic wit, and satire. “Typical of how the Jews fight,’ assessed
Goebbels.** From 1908 to 1915 Harden had been the most virulent warmonger;
then he had gone to the United States, from where had had reviled Germany. ‘Our
worst enemies in Germany,” summarized Goebbels, ‘are the Jews.*

Everywhere he detected their baneful influence. Ifhe, Goebbels, were in power he
would pack them all into cattletrucks and ship them out of Germany: so he wrote on
July 2, 1924. However, reading the prison letters of Rosa Luxemburg®* he was sur-
prised at the idealism and warmth of this militant leftist’s letters. He sensed that
perhaps he was doing her an injustice. ‘You can’t change your nature,” he realized
guiltily. ‘And my nature is now rather biased toward the antisemitic.’

THE rightwing parties announced a two-day rally to be held at Weimar in mid-August

1924 to agree upon strategy for the next elections, due on December 7.
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Weimar! What visions of Goethe and Schiller the name evoked. In the privacy of
his diary Goebbels sometimes seriously compared himself with one or the other,
particularly Schiller.** So when his former schoolfriend Fritz Prang suggested going
to Weimar together he was delighted. It would be his first foray into the heart of
Germany. He was desperate to get out of ‘this miserable hovel” in Dahlener Strasse.**
Prang seems to have become a type familiar in most political movements. ‘He comes
in, wrote Goebbels after one political soiree, ‘he curses the Jews a bit, smokes a few
cigarettes, draws up grotesque and totally impracticable organisation plans, thrusts a
pile of newspapers into my hands, and then goes again.’*

The Weimar meeting was a milestone in his career.* He gained immediate inspira-
tion from the well-attended rally at the National Theatre and the shouts of Heil. He
saw for the first time the swastika—this curious four-elbowed symbol—and inked it
into his diary. He spotted his old lecturer Professor Kaerst from Wiirzburg there, at
the back, wearing a swastika and noted: ‘Et tu, Brute!’ ‘All these young people who
are fighting alongside me,” he wrote. ‘It does my heart good.” He saw them sporting
the same swastika emblem on their helmets—Hitler’s elite guard, the Highland League
(Bund Oberland)—as they paraded to hear an address by the war hero Erich
Ludendorft, patron of the folkish movement. Sizing up the others, he saw Albert von
Graefe, a tall gangling ex-major in a black frock coat, as a man of culture, and Gregor
Strasser as a warm human being. He also found here the Nuremberg Nazi, Julius
Streicher, who had founded his own Party for the Struggle against International Jewry:
this fanatic with the pinched lips was too intense for his liking, but he reflected that
every movement needed the occasional man who ran berserk as well.

With Hitler still in prison, the Weimar rally was ‘Hamlet” without the Prince of
Denmark. Ludendorff was no Fihrer; he was not the messiah that Goebbels was
seeking. He spent that Sunday on a quiet pilgrimage through the homes of Goethe
and Schiller. Sitting in the former’s favourite chair he dashed off a few lines to Else
before strolling over to Schiller’s large yellow-ochre house. He gazed silently at the
chair where Schiller died, while the noise of rowdy processions drifted up from the

street. ‘Up here died your forefather, youngsters!” he admonished in his diary. “There
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are other avenues than the mailed fist. That afternoon, still an outsider, he watched
the flags and swastikas parading—some thirty thousand marching men in his esti-
mate. The tumultuous roars of Heil when Hitler’s name was mentioned made a last-
ing impression. For a while he sat with Fritz Prang in a bar, ‘Chemnitius.” Fritz wanted
to relax but Goebbels was so keyed up that he talked only about politics, ignoring the
come-hither glances directed, he claimed in his diary, at him by the girls all around.
He had found a new passion. ‘I have begun to think volkisch,” he wrote. ‘It is a
Weltanschauung, a philosphy of life.’

Pure chance had decreed that he emerge from his hibernation here on the far right,
and not the left. On August 21, 1924, nervous lest the Belgian authorities might
suddenly show up, he and Prang founded the local (M6nchengladbach) branch of
Graefe’s movement (the prefix ‘National Socialist’ was still forbidden. ) Several friends
joined at once. He made a ninety-minute speech and saw how the eyes of one young-
ster in front began to glow.” These first meetings were held in Batze-Mohn’s historic
beerhall or at Caumann’s in Augustastrasse.** At least once in 1924 the Belgian occu-
pation authorities did take him in for questioning. Shown the interrogation record
years later he would pride himself on his foresight: ‘It’s all just as I think today. Nearly
fifteen years ago, as a little agitator.’s”

Shortly after, he moved from Rheydt to Elberfeld. He later put it about that the
occupation authorities had expelled him from their zone.*” He began, despite mis-
givings, to work for Wiegershaus who had been subsidising a political weekly called
Volkische Freiheit (Folkish Freedom) since March 1924. Around this time Else re-
turned to his life, arousing God and the Devil in his Catholic loins. ‘Next to money,

Y61

he defined, ‘Eros is what makes the world go round.”*" More usefully, a typewriter
also arrived, a machine whose intricacies seemed more easily mastered than wom-
en’s.” The first contributions signed by ‘Dr G’ appeared in issue No.24 dated Sep-
tember 13, 1924.% One was an article examining the concepts of National and So-

cialist (it concluded: ‘“We are nothing. Germany is everything!”) It was followed a

week later by “The Fiihrer Problem.** On October 4 his name appeared in the im-
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print for the first time, as ‘Dr Paul ] Goebbels’—an odd clue that he disliked the
taint of ‘Joseph’.

Hitler was still incarcerated in Landsberg prison. Meeting Gregor Strasser, Hit-
ler’s burly viceroy, at Elberfeld on September 13 Goebbels asked him whether Hitler
would soon be released. ‘“We are all missing him,” he confessed to his diary. In Hitler,
whom he had yet to meet, he saw the unifying concept of the movement—The
fixed pole around which all national socialist thinking orbits.’*

He was still flexing his muscles as a public speaker. He recognized in himself the
elements of a ‘ripe old demagogue’ and set about refining his delivery.® When he
failed to inspire an audience of farmworkers at Wickrath he blamed it on the dullness
inculcated by the Occupation. A speech the next day however inspired some hardboiled
workers nearer home. Ruthlessly mixing metaphors, he recorded that the flames
would rage on and he would reap later what he was sowing now. Other workers
asked to hear the Little Doctor speak. A locomotive engineer brought his mates to
hear him in an ugly tavern in the Ruhr. ‘I have found a firm objective, Goebbels
wrote, ‘one to which my eyes unblinking turn. This objective is: Freedom for Ger-
many!”*’

Over the next year he would deliver no less than 189 speeches, learning to cast off
all cant and phoney philosophizing, becoming preacher, apostle, and agitator alike.*
In his hands, he would write, he found that the soul of the German working man was
as soft as wax, and he could knead it and mould it as he desired.

He soon fell out with Wiegershaus. His proprietor wanted his little weekly to
emphasize German nationalism. Goebbels preferred to put the socialism first. Soon
three-quarters of the weekly was being written by Goebbels. By threatening to quit
he bluffed Wiegershaus into appointing him ‘managing editor’ as from October 2,
1924. It was another rung up the ladder. ‘Since yesterday,” he wrote the next day, ‘I
am quite a different person. At home too’—and what measure of relief lies in these
words— ‘they look at me with quite different eyes” He had his own mouthpiece.
Upward to the stars, onward to freedom for Germany, God be at our side! These

were the thrilling phrases that he inscribed in his diary.*
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Under Dr Paul ] Goebbels the weekly became readable and hard hitting. He was
not happy with his writing style, but practice made perfect and his thoughts flowed
fast and free. He installed a sub-office in his parental home. As his twenty-seventh
birthday came and went his parents were astounded by the change. He still lounged
around unshaven, but he had a sense of purpose. He increased his literary intake still
more: he digested ten newspapers each day, and dealt with correspondence until
two or three A.M. He began a new article, “The Basic Problems of Jewry.”* His par-
ents stopped nagging. His fame as orator and writer was noised across the Rhineland.

True, he was not being paid, but this fame was gratification enough.

' German FO files, Feb 15, 1923, on the Ruhr occupation: Friedrich Ebert foundation
archives, Bonn: Carl Severing papers, file 95; execution of Schlageter, files 9off.

* Albert Krebs, Erinnerungen an die Frithzeit der Partei (Stuttgart, 1959), 158. Krebs, no
friend of JG’s, excused the ‘uniform’ and remark as a necessary propaganda tactic given the
hostile atmosphere of the times. The writer Franz Schauwecker exposed JG’s ‘military ca-
reer’ later in an open letter.

> A blue-carbon copy typescript of Goebbels” much-revised play, ‘Michael Voormann. Ein
Menschenschicksal in Tagebuchblittern,” dedicated to the memory of Flisges, is in BA file
NL.118/127. Init, Michael’s mother sends to the mining apprentice Alexander Neumann a
copy of Zarathustra that had belonged to Michael; Neumann writes to Hertha Holk that he
has found one passage lined in red, reading: ‘Many die too late, and some too early. Never
forget the lesson: Die at the right time!”

* NYT, May 4, 1945.

¢ Karl Kaufmann to Otto Strasser, Jun 4, 1927 (BDC: Goebbels file; author’s microfilm
DI-81).

¢ Miiller (editor) to ]G, Oct 13, 1922 (BA file NL.118/113).

7 JG, ‘Ausschnitte aus der deutschen Literatur der Gegenwart,” Oct 30, 1922 (Genoud
papers; cit. Reuth, §8).

* Kolner Tageblatt also published two articles by JG in the summer of 1923; a dozen early
newspaper articles by JG are preserved in BA file NL.118/113.

> ‘Heinrich Kampfert, Ein Drama in drei Aufziigen’ (BA: NL.118/114); completed Feb
12,1919.

** ‘Die die Sonne lieben’, summer 1917 (BA: NL.118/117)
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" ‘Bin ein fahrender Schiiler, ein wiister Gesell... A 32pp. novel handwritten in summer
1917 on squared paper, ‘Novelle aus dem Studentenleben von Joseph Goebbels,” dedicated
to Kolsch (BA: NL.118/127)

" ‘Bei Nacht’ (BA: NL.118/118)

> Cf. diary, Mar 8, 1926: ‘T weigh just one hundred Pfund, i.e. 5o kilos or about 110
pounds.

* Diary, Jul 14, 1924; JG’s correspondence with Else Janke is in BA file NL.118/110.

** Diary, Aug 6, 1924.

** Ibid., Aug 8, 1924.

"7 In his diary on Dec 28, 1933 JG would describe another visit to the castle, with ‘blissful
memories.

* On Jul 19, 1924 JG noted, “Today is one year since Richard was killed at Schliersee.

" JG to Else Janke, Sep 22, 1923 (BA file NL.118/110).

** Fritz Gobbels to ]G, Sep 27, 1923 (BA file NL.118/113).

* JG, ‘Schopferische Krifte. Richard Flisges, dem toten Freunde!” in Rheydter Zeitung, Dec
22, 1923 (BA file NL.118/113; and Moscow archives, Goebbels papers).

* Cf Diary, Jul 31, 1924.

# Diary Oct 17, 1923—]Jun 22, 1924 (Moscow archives, Goebbels papers, box 2). The
microfiches in this box also contain the following segments: Dec 31, 1923—Mar 11; Mar
13—Jun 12; Jun 27—Aug 6, 1924. ]G also wrote a 32pp sketch for Else entitled, ‘From my
diary. This reflected his painful lack of any vocation and his crushing doubts in God and the
world. ‘I feel the need,’ he began, ‘to give some account of my life so far.” The best way, he
felt, would be to sit in judgement each day upon himself. “My goal,” he wrote, ‘is God. And
my greatest joy, the search for Truth.” (BA: NL.118/126); cf. Frohlich, cv.

* Diary, Jul 19, 1924.

* ]G, ‘Aus meinem Tagebuch,’ Jun 1923 (BA file NL.118/126).

** Else Janke to JG, Nov 4, 1923 (Genoud papers; cit. Reuth, 74).

7 Diary, Jul 2, 1924.

* Ibid., Jul 11, 1924.

» Ibid., Jul 15, 1924.

> Ibid., Aug 13, 1924.

* Ibid., Aug 1, 7, 1924.

» Ibid., Jul 9, 1924.

» Ibid., Jun 27, 1924.

# Ibid., Jul 4, 1924.

» JG to Rudolf Mosse Verlag (BA file NL.118/113).

* The papers of Theodor Wolff (1868-1943), chief editor of the Berliner Tageblatt , are in BA
NL.207.

7 Diary, Jul 30, 1924.

* Ibid.Jul 17, 1924.

* Rheydter Zeitung and Diisseldorfer Nachrichten.— JG’s diary for Nov 8, 1928 suggests that
he began his career ‘as a little country orator’ at Hattingen.

* Boris von Borresholm, Dr Goebbels. Nach Aufzeichnungen aus seiner Umgebung (Berlin, 1949),

46T, It is not clear who the author was.
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# See Manfred Miiller, Den Weg zur Freiheit bahnen! Um Sozialismus und Sozialpolitik: NS-
Arbeiteragitator Wilhelm Bérger (Essen, 1993). Bérger (not ‘Berger,’ as Frohlich has it) was a
close friend of ]G.

# Diary, Jun 30, 1924. Presumably Rosenberg’s diary (Mar 1, 1939) reference to JG’s
alleged remark to Darré on Feb 25, 1939 that Hitler ought to have told him (JG) ‘in 1924’ to
comport himself differently, is a mistake.

# Diary, Jul 4, 1924.

“Ibid., Jul 7, 9, 1924.

# Ibid., Jul 25, 1924.

“ Ibid., Jul 28, 1924.

“ 1bid., Jul 30, 1924.

# Ibid., Mar 27, 1925.

# Harden’s real name was not Isidor but Felix Ernst Witkowski.

* Diary, Jun 30; Jul 2, 4, 1924; see too Dietz Bering, Kampf um Namen. BernhardWeiss gegen
Joseph Goebbels (Stuttgart, 1992), 215, and Angriff’s hate-filled obituary, Nov 21, 1927.

* Diary, Jul 4, 1924.

* Briefe aus dem Geftngnis an Karl Liebknecht, 1919; diary, Jul 4, 1924.

# Diary, Aug 25, 1924.

# Ibid., Aug 1, 13, 1924.

s Ibid., Aug 15, 1924.

* Ibid., Aug 20, 1924.

7 Ibid., Aug 22, 1924.

*W von Ameln, ‘Die Stadt Rheydt und die Nationalsozialistische Deutsche Arbeiterpartei,
in Einwohnerbuch der Stadt Rheydt 1936 (Ménchengladbach archives).

 Diary, Jul 2, 1938. ‘I receive a secret protocol from the Belgian war ministry on my
interrogation by Detective Nagel in 1924."—And cf. von Ameln. op. cit.

* E.g., in Rheinische Landeszeitung undVolksparole, Nr.239, Sep 1, 193 5 (Hoffkes collection);
JG’s police file however states under Feb 1, 1926, he ‘fled from the occupied territories
because of political machinations.’

" Diary, Aug 29, 1924.

“ Ibid., Sep 1, 3, 4, 1924.

* Volkische Freiheit. Rheinsch-westfdlisches Kampfblatt der Nationalsozialistischen Freiheitsbewegung

ftir ein volkisch-soziales Deutschland.

* Diary, Sep 1, 9, 17, 22, 24; Oct 6, 1924.

* Ibid., Sep 15, 1924.

* Ibid., Sep 23, 1924.

7 Ibid., Sep 27, 1924.

* Ibid., Oct 21, 1925.

* Ibid., Oct 3, 1924.

7 Ibid., Sep 23, 1924.



4: The Little Agitator

:]I:N the May 1924 Parliamentary elections 1,918,329 people had voted for the
rightwing parties” united front, giving them thirty-two of the 472 seats in the
Reichstag; but of these only ten, under Gregor Strasser, owed allegiance to Hitler. In
the election of December 7 the right wing, now named the National Socialist Free-
dom movement, attracted only 907,242 votes: fourteen MPs, with only five repre-
senting Hitler.

Writing after this reverse Goebbels encouraged his readers on December 20: “There
is no use denying it: we lost this battle, and the enemy triumphed all along the line.’
He had intuitively perceived the correct propaganda tactic—ruthless depiction of
the sombreness of the hour. “The Idea,’ he continued, ‘is worth any sacrifice, even the
sacrifice of lives and property!” And then, in a pale pre-echo of his famous proclama-
tions in the last days of his life, he hinted at the darkness that precedes each dawn:
‘Every disaster at Jena is followed by a victory at Leipzig’

The first rays of the new dawn appeared that same afternoon. Hitler arrived back
at his Munich apartment, a free man again. Goebbels acclaimed him in his weekly’s
Political Diary, published on New Year’s Day 1925: “We greet thee, leader and hero,
and there is an enormous joy and anticipation in us with the knowledge that thou art
again in our midst.” ‘Germany’s youth once more has its leader,” he concluded. “We
await his command.’

Hitler’s release from Landsberg threw his party into flux. Goebbels reassessed the

conflict between the national and socialist elements of the party’s programme. He
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found it impossible to swallow the internationalist aspects of Marxism. He hoped to
steer the nationalist movement towards socialism, rather than see its socialist aspects
drenched in mindless nationalism. In the Ruhr and Rhineland, he found many activi-
ties he thought like him—particularly the former members of the paramilitary Free
Corps.

Among these young activists was Karl Kaufmann. Kaufmann, three years his jun-
ior, had organised N.S.D.A.P. Ortsgruppen (local groups) in several Ruhr cities until
forced by the Prussian police to flee to Bavaria. Now he was back in Elberfeld, rais-
ing a political force aligned against the bourgeois, comfortably-off Wiegershaus.

Goebbels too was evidently disillusioned with the folkish movement. In the final
issue of his weekly, an anonymous advertisement appeared on January 17, 1925,

announcing under Box R.26:

Situation wanted. Editor, young, folkish, accustomed to work independently;
good leader-writer, organizer, workaholic; unemployed because of political de-

velopments; seeks position, possibly in financial firm.

Three days later Wiegershaus invited him to resign, and he cast his lot with Kaufmann
instead.

His personal life now was overshadowed by a humiliating lack of funds.” He was
often unable to pay his rent or buy food, but when Kaufmann needed it desperately
Goebbels proudly loaned him his last forty marks.” They became firm friends;
Kaufmann was one of the very few men he addressed as du.’ To forget his own pov-
erty he would crawl, his stomach aching for nourishment, into a church pew to hear
St. Matthew’s Passion with tears streaming down his cheeks at the beauty of the
music.* He found it hard to make true friends. He found his Alsatian dog more like-
able than many a human being; indeed, he began to hate the human race as he often
wrote in his diary.* While his brother Konrad had now acquired a housemaid and a
car, Joseph loathed the trappings of the bourgeoisie.®

His romantic escapades left him filed with self-hatred too. Else now rarely wrote

to him, having found him juvenile and adolescent. He had started a parallel relation-
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ship with another girl, Elisabeth Gensicke, but nothing came of it. ‘From year to
year, he reflected, ‘I shall be more and more lonely until I end up all alone without
love and without a family.” That was his dread.

Comforting afterglows of his expired Catholic faith still flickered. That March he
dutifully hurried home to celebrate his Saint’s Day in the family fold.* His brother
Hans was no longer welcome there as he had married outside the Catholic faith. This
brought home to Joseph once more the impossibility of marrying the ‘voluminous,
chubby, healthy, cheerful” half-Jewess Else, although he did sometimes envisage it: ‘I
should like her as my wife—if only she were not half-blooded.”

Thus he toyed with Elisabeth’s affections. “The poor child has gone to pieces over
me,” he wrote in bemusement. ‘She trembles with anguish and joy when she sees
me.** He knew that tremor well. On the twentieth a farewell letter came from
Elisabeth—she could not stand it any longer. He replied with bleeding heart. ‘And
now, he noted, ‘this beautiful yet oh so ephemeral flowering dream is over. A great

loneliness besets me.’ "

Dr GoEBBELS’ party membership file is missing, but according to Karl Kaufmann he
formally joined soon after Hitler had reconstituted the party in Munich on February
27, 1925." In March Hitler activated a Gau (region) covering the North Rhineland.
He appointed the middle-aged Baltic German journalist Axel Ripke as gauleiter. At
Kaufmann’s instance, Ripke appointed Goebbels his manager (Geschdftsfiihrer); among
Ripke’s other officials were such personalities as the later notorious Erich Koch, one
of Leo Schlageter’s comrades, and the later Sturmabteilung (S.A.) commander Viktor
Lutze. The Elberfeld police soon took note that ‘Goebbels appears as speaker at every
function’ and directed the evenings organised by the Elberfeld Ortsgruppe (district)
of the N.S.D.A.P. (Nazi party) whose Fiihrer was identified as ‘K Kaufmann’."
Ripke’s gau ran into immediate difficulties. On March 17 the French occupation
authorities in Diisseldorf banned the organisation and a week later arrested officials
of its Elberfeld local.** “We request,” wrote Goebbels to the Reich Minister for the

Occupied Territories on April 3, ‘that you take appropriate steps to secure the im-
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mediate release of our men from custody.”* “The same old grief, he observed in his
diary. ‘But an Idea cannot be put down.’ And, ten days later: ‘Prosecution and arrests
by the French.. . . They’ve knocked us flat. This is the proof that our Idea is the right
one.” He had founded a local group at Krefeld, and often spoke to them: one evening
three Belgian detectives appeared, blocked the doors, and asked him if ‘a Dr Goebbels’
was in the hall. Goebbels replied calmly, ‘He’s busy right now, I'm speaking on his
behalf.’ The officials left empty handed."

His radical views attracted the mistrust of other local officials. Arthur Etterich,
who had founded the Hattingen local three years before, likened him to Maximilien
de Robespierre; Ripke agreed, and cited Honor¢ Count de Mirabeau’s words about
Robespierre: “The man is dangerous—he believes what he says."” Neither Goebbels
nor Kaufmann felt that their gauleiter, Ripke, was a match for the French. He was
too old, conservative, and diplomatic." ‘Ripke is no activist,’ concluded Goebbels, as
the friction grew. Ripke loathed Goebbels’ leftwing slant, while the latter detested
the gauleiter’s bourgeois attitudes. Suppressing the actual epithet, he wrote: “You
can’t stage a revolution with —’s like these.”" But Ripke had Hitler’s ear, and often
travelled to Berlin to deal with Gregor Strasser, Hitler’s deputy in all of northern
Germany. Disillusioned by this situation, Goebbels toyed with the idea of quitting. A
friend showed him over the Heinrichshiitte blast furnaces at Hattingen—and he
marvelled at this gigantic sulphurous inferno of capitalist corruption.’ These men,
he felt, were crying out to be freed. After a speech to Krupp steel workers at nearby
Essen on April 25, he decided to struggle on within the party’s still threadbare ranks,
paupered and starving though he was.

He conceived the idea of a fanatical Freedom League (Freiheitsbund) of thirty mem-
bers pledged to donate a fixed amount each month—a sort of “intellectual stormtroop’
as he put it.” Ripke was dismissive, but the first whipround at Hattingen yielded 268
marks. For hours Goebbels plotted with Kaufmann ways of getting rid of their tedi-
ous gauleiter.” He had a long talk with Ripke on May 18 which ended, if Goebbels is
to be believed, with Ripke on his knees pleading forgiveness. The gauleiter accused

him of promoting a new class—struggle. “Too true!” commented Goebbels: ‘With
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capitalism, you’ve got to call a spade a spade.’** After another five-hour session with
Ripke he defined, ‘Socialism means the liberation of the proletariat, not just break-
ing the Versailles peace treaty. God, preserve my passion!’** He was beginning to
hate Ripke, and this feeling was mutual. The one wanted bourgeois reform, the other
socialist revolution.*

In Munich, Hitler had revived the Party newspaper Volkischer Beobachter and Alfred
Rosenberg, its editor, invited Goebbels to submit occasional pieces from May.* He
wrote by day and made speeches by night. He did not flinch from the ugly scenes that
often resulted. After he spoke at a flag dedication ceremony at Remscheid on June 5
there was a battle with communists in the railroad tunnel and the police arrested 1 50
of his opponents. ‘I was in the thick of it,’ he chortled. “The two factions went ber-

serk and waded into eachother. What a way to One Nation!’*’

As the summer of 1925 approached he fancied himself back at Freiburg with Anka.
‘Of those blissful times with all their glamour and romance,” he sighed, recalling a
piano playing Edvard Grieg, the Castle park, his lips on her cheek, her silken blonde
hair and blue green eyes.” While Else was away on vacation he made use of her best
friend Alma.” In mid-August he received a promising postcard from Alma which he
described as the first sign after ‘that night.” “This teasing, enchanting Alma, he added.
‘I rather like this creature.” Such romantic interludes were a cheap opium against the
pangs of poverty: his landlord gave him notice to quit his lodgings at No.122 Ge-
sundheit Strasse (‘Health Street”) in Elberfeld. ** His parents had sent him 1 50 marks.*'
‘Damn and blast!” he let fly in his diary, and an unkind Fate, hearing him, responded
with a final tax demand for 1 50 marks.

Once he spoke at Recklinghausen, Anka’s home town, and he half hoped to see her
sitting there among his enraptured audience. Those audiences were getting larger.
The Vélkischer Beobachter (VB) reported regularly on his speeches. Together with Viktor
Lutze, 34, the region’s S.A. commander, he spoke to three thousand packing the big

concert hall in Essen. A truckload of young rightwingers known as the Falcons drove
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him home.* Two days later on August 25 the French occupation troops finally pulled
out of the Rhineland.

The first volume of Hitler’s ‘Mein Kampf” had just been published, and Goebbels
along with twenty thousand others was dipping into it.” There was much that he
disagreed with. He learned that on July 12 his gauleiter Ripke had blackened his
name to Hitler as a ‘bolshevist’. Goebbels fought back, accusing Ripke of embezzling
Party funds; this was one offence the Party would not tolerate. On July 12 Hitler
called all the party’s gauleiters of northern Germany to Weimar, and it was in a
beerhall here that he and Goebbels first briefly met that day.* ‘Ripke is finished, he
wrote as an internal hearing subsequently began, with Strasser presiding.** Ripke
resigned leaving Kaufmann, Lutze, and Goebbels in charge.

For a while Goebbels and Kaufmann were inseparable. They spent Sunday evenings
together—in the theatre when they could afford it, or just laughing and drinking
when they could not. ‘I am very fond of him,” Goebbels wrote. Sometimes he sat up
late with Kaufmann and the others at their headquarters in Elberfeld’s Holzer Strasse,
arguing by candlelight.

One day in mid summer Strasser came to see him. Strasser had earlier been gauleiter
of Lower Bavaria, and in the failed 1923 putsch his stormtroopers had held the Isar
bridges. With his rough-hewn features, he was the stereotype Bavarian; but he was
shrewd, ambitious, and one of the cleverest in the Nazi hierarchy. Probably he recog-
nized in Goebbels a useful lieutenant whose politics were similar to his own. He
certainly won Goebbels over. ‘He has a wonderful sense of humour,’ recorded the
latter after this meeting. ‘Related a lot of sorry things about Munich and about the
swine at Party HQ there. Hitler is surrounded by the wrong people; I think Hermann
Esser [Hitler’s propaganda chief] is his undoing,** Strasser revealed that he was plan-
ning to consolidate the Party’s organisation in north western Germany, and he would
want Goebbels to edit a new journal as a weapon against Munich.

This was fighting talk, and Goebbels liked it. For a while he would be Strasser’s

man. ‘Strasser is a man of initiative—somebody you can work with and a splendid
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character as well.” Gregor Strasser would become his first real employer: then his

sworn rival: and ultimately his mortal enemy.

WHEN Strasser’s conclave took place, in the grimy Ruhr town of Hagen on September
10, Gregor himself could not attend as his mother was ill.’” But those who did were
the toughest men the Party had in northern Germany including many former Free
Corps officers. Dr Robert Ley, 35, a former aviator and now an industrial chemist,
had directed the South Rhineland gau (around Cologne) since mid July; Professor
Theodor Vahlen, 56, was gauleiter of Pomerania; Hinrich Lohse, a businessman, 28,
who headed the northernmost gau, Schleswig-Holstein; Franz von Pfeffer, 37, who
had been condemned to death by the French but escaped, gauleiter of Westphalia
since March; and Ludolf Haase, gauleiter of south Hanover, and his deputy Hermann
Fobke, who had spent some months in Landsberg with Hitler.

Fobke’s report is in Party files.” He felt that the ‘sharp intellect’ of Goebbels,
whom he called the gau Fiihrer of the north Rhineland, called for thorough analysis,
‘as he does not seem all that trustworthy at first sight.” Goebbels however was de-
lighted at the outcome, telling his diary: “We pulled everything off” By that he meant
that the regions of north and west German would henceforth operate as a bloc under
Strasser’s centralized command, with his office at Elberfeld and ‘a centralized man-
agement (moi).” Only Ley had quibbled. Speaking that evening, Goebbels banged his
own drum, the need to put socialism before nationalism, particularly here in the
industrial basin. He felt sure Hitler would see things their way—‘Because he is young,
and knows all about making sacrifices.’

Seventeen days later, on September 27, two hundred men from the Ruhr’s local
groups met at Diisseldorf to decide who should replace Ripke.* Goebbels hoped the
choice would fall on him. But Kaufmann was ‘unanimously elected’ as gauleiter, with
Goebbels merely manager as before.* He consoled himself that the audience had

borne him out of the hall on their shoulders. He desperately wanted to be loved.*

FOR the next thirteen months he was Kaufmann’s roving agitator. Sometimes he felt
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ill-used, and cast a jealous, almost womanly eye over all his rivals for the gauleiter’s
affection. But editing Gregor Strasser’s influential new fortnightly journal National
Socialist Letters more than compensated. It enabled his voice to be heard far from
Elberfeld. The journal’s masthead proclaimed it as the work of ‘leading members of
the movement.** He would edit the first thirty-nine issues. Its four, or sometimes
eight pages sometimes carried contributions by Heinrich Himmler, Franz von Pfeffer,
and Strasser’s bombastic younger brother Otto. But above all Goebbels used it as his
platform to argue his own socialist and antisemitic brand of politics. In the second
issue he published a letter to ‘my friend on the Left,’ arguing: “You and I, we fight one
another although we are not really enemies at all.’# This was a trenchant theme in all
his writings, as was his somewhat ritualized affection for Russia: in the fourth issue
he addressed a letter to the same imaginary Russian, ‘Ivan Vienurovsky, as had fig-
ured in ‘Michael” “We look to Russia,” he wrote, ‘because Russia is our natural ally
against the fiendish contamination and corruption from the west... Because we can
see the commencement of our own national and socialist survival in an alliance with
a truly national and socialist Russia.’** He reverted to this theme in the seventh issue.
‘I have reflected for a long time,” he recorded after this was published, ‘on the issue
of foreign policy. You can’t ignore Russia.’+

When Gustav Stresemann signed the Locarno pact he was therefore appalled. An
ugly vision seized Goebbels—of Germany’s sons dying in the service of western
capitalism ‘possibly, even probably, in some “Holy War” against Moscow!”** “We shall
be the mercenaries against Russia,” he repeated gloomily a week later, ‘on the battle-
fields of capitalism... We’re done for.’*

Sophisticated argument like this was anathema to Hitler’s potbellied men in Mu-
nich. Rosenberg published one of Goebbels’ essays in the VB but only to tear it apart
for having failed to recognize the Jewish domination lying at the heart of Bolshevism.

The Letters were an undeniable success. Goebbels advertised them in other Party
publications, calling upon all National Socialists of west and north Germany to pay a
1. 50 mark quarterly subscription. “Thus,” he found, ‘we’ve got our hands on a unique

instrument of power.” According to its accountant Paul Schmitz he received 150



72 GOEBBELS. MASTERMIND OF THE THIRD REICH

marks a month as editor.* The Letters gave the Party a sense of direction. In his sixth
issue he held forth on the Party’s need to radicalise socialism. He set this out at
greater length in a standard speech, ‘Lenin or Hitler, which he first delivered ac-
cording to Prussian police records in Hanover on September 17, 1925%; he deliv-
ered it scores of times afterwards, provoking violent clashes in the ‘Red’ cities like
Altona and Chemnitz, and fervent acclaim in Berlin, Dresden, Plauen, Zwickau and
elsewhere.” It was heavy on the theory and history, but still seized the imagination of
his listeners, said Albert Krebs, a Party official in Hamburg.** He began with a word
picture of the German national character Michel dozing behind the stove with his
cap tucked down snugly over his ears, surrounded by mocking enemies who pilfer
his last possessions; a friend tries to waken him. “When Michel is half awake, he rubs
his eyes, lurches grumbling to his feet—and thumps the man who has woken him!”
‘“We Germans, continues Goebbels, ‘are the unluckiest people God’s sun shines upon.
Sixty millions of us, surrounded by enemies, bleeding from a thousand wounds, the
hardest working nation on earth, and we see our only political exercise as being to
tear ourselves limb from limb.” Because their leaders had failed to win over the working
classes they had been thrown into the arms of the left; and here the ‘systematic
underminer of any true workers’ movement, the marxist Jew, had easily led them
astray. ‘“We allowed ourselves to be humiliated at conference after conference,’ pro-
claimed Goebbels, ‘in a way we wouldn’t have dared humiliate even a nigger nation,
and nobody came and thundered the word No! The Ruhr was occupied: the German
people hid its bourgeois cowardice behind passive resistance. The Ruhr was lost—
and Mr Gustav Stresemann espied a “silver lining” on the horizon. .. Stresemann’s fat
hand signed everything our grinning enemies laid before him.” “Then, he shrieked,

‘came Locarno, and Gustav Stresemann trotted off to London and signed that too.’

For a mess of pottage Germany sold off all her sovereign rights—her coin-
minting rights, her economic rights, her transport rights. We castrated ourselves. ..

Germany has become a colony of World Finance.
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He talked about the “public opinion factory” which had jollied Stresemann along.
“Germany,” he hooted, “disarmed to her last water-pistol, gives security guarantees
to her enemies who are armed to the teeth and lurking rapaciously on her frontiers.’
Locarno, he argued, meant not peace but war. He foresaw a gigantic armed struggle
against the Soviet Union using German blood. ‘And presiding over it all is the Jew,
both in the ranks of world capitalism and concealed in Soviet Bolshevism, egging on
the Russians and Germans against eachother ... in one last orgy of hostilities.” “The
next great world struggle is just ahead ... and all in the name of freedom, civilisa-
tion, and human rights.’

He introducing Lenin to his by now seething audiences in terms of surprising
warmth, as a man who had learned all about social deprivation the hard way. ‘Capi-
talism,” he defined, ‘is the immoral distribution of capital.” Nazism made a distinc-
tion between creative State capital and a grasping international loan capital. ‘Ger-
many will become free,” he promised, ‘at that moment when the thirty millions on
the left and the thirty millions on the right make common cause.’ ‘Only one move-
ment is capable of doing this: National Socialism, embodied in one Fithrer—Adolf

Hitler.
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5: God Disposes Otherwise

E OR a while Karl Kaufmann was, after Else, the best friend he had. But Gregor
_ Strasser was the man he most admired—five years his senior, Strasser was
willing to adopt the radical programme that Goebbels espoused.” He could use Strasser
as a battering ram against Munich. They were not of course fighting Hitler himself,
but the toadying parasites surrounding him in Munich and in particular the Party’s
propaganda chief Hermann Esser. Munich hinted that Goebbels might like to go
down there. The hints fell on deaf ears. Together with Strasser he intended to build
his power base between the Rhine and Ruhr.

It is legitimate to ask whether his proletarian stance was mere posturing. His pri-
vate writings do show a marked sympathy with the working class. His contempt for
the ‘bourgeois scum’ in the Party, toasting their toes on his radicalism as he engag-
ingly put it, was genuine. ‘I find it appalling,” he would write, ‘that we and the com-
munists are bashing each other’s heads in.> When Pfeffer stated in the Letters that
Germany needed a middle class, and avowed that he did not believe in the ‘power of
the proletariat,”* Goebbels delivered this stinging rejoinder: “We’ll get nowhere if
we rely on the propertied and educated classes. I believe in socialism and in the
proletariat.’

He now drew audiences of two and three thousand with ease. Often there were as

many thugs outside, armed with firearms too. At Diisseldorf on October 8, 1925 the
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communists for miles around packed in, but within minutes he had silenced them
and held them in his grip for two hours.* He drafted in his own hand a cute pamphlet
entitled “The Little a.b.c. of National Socialism, as a catechism for the Party. He
completed it on October 26 and his friend Director Arnold, a wealthy Hattingen
industrialist, put up the capital for a first print of ten thousand.*

His personal affairs were in chaos. He was living a gypsy existence, changing trains
and lodgings with almost equal frequency.” He was driving himself to the limit. His
diary entries often end with a motif that remains unchanged for years—of dropping
off exhausted to bed, for only a few hours’ sleep. He crisscrossed his tough industrial
domain, in painfully slow local trains, setting eyes also on Liibeck, Hamburg (‘redo-
lent of ocean and America